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Sales by division
Total CHF 244’660

Sales by geographical market
Total CHF 244’660

Sales by market segment
Total CHF 244’660

Employees by activity
Total 998

Employees by country
Total 998

Mikron Group 

Assembly Technology      48%

Switzerland      5%
Other markets      2%

North America      17%

Offi ce Equipment      5%

Various specialities      18%

Administration      10%

North America      8%
Asia/Pacifi c, India      1%

Europe      8%

Research & Development, 
Engineering      25%

Marketing, 
Sales, Service      17%

Medical/Personal Care      24%

Asia/Pacifi c, India      6%

Machining Technology      52%

Europe      70%

Switzerland      83%

Production, Logistics      48%

Automotive      53%
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in CHF million  2006  2005   +/-

Key performance data    

Order intake 228.7  214.9  13.8 6.4%

Net sales 244.7  218.4  26.3 12.0%

Stock of orders 72.7  96.7  -24.0 -24.8%

Operating output 247.8  230.6  17.2 7.5%

Productivity (added value/personnel expenses) 1.41  1.47  

Research and development 14.3  14.7  -0.4 -2.7%

Number of employees  998  983  15 1.5%

Earnings    

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), as % of net sales 9.0 3.7% 7.6 3.5% 1.4 18.4%

Net earnings for the year, as % of net sales 4.0 1.6% -24.6 -11.2% 28.6 n.a.

Cash Flow    

Cash Flow from operating activities  

(incl. movement in net working capital) -15.3 -6.3% 12.4 5.7% -27.7 n.a.

Free Cash Flow -24.3  13.9  -38.2 n.a.

Balance sheet    

Balance sheet total 276.3  290.7  -14.4 -5.0%

Current assets 158.5  165.5  -7.0 -4.2%

Fixed assets 117.9  117.6  0.3 0.3%

Current liabilities 63.9  74.3  -10.4 -14.0%

Long-term liabilities 12.4  14.9  -2.5 -16.8%

Shareholders’ equity 200.0 72.4% 194.8 67.0% 5.2 2.7%

Mikron Group

Key Figures 2006
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Brief Profile

The Mikron Technology Group develops and builds production solutions for companies that 

specialize in high-volume manufacturing. Mikron ranks as one of the world‘s leading provid-

ers of customer-specific manufacturing and assembly systems. Thanks to its long-standing 

experience in this field, Mikron can satisfy the highest standards of precision in a cost-effective 

manner. The Group‘s key customers include companies from the automotive, medical technol-

ogy and writing instrument industries. In addition, Mikron also serves numerous industrial 

production companies in other segments.

The Mikron Group today comprises two divisions, constituting a single business segment: 

 Mikron Machining Technology develops and manufactures machining systems for the  

 production of parts from metallic materials ranging in size from very small to medium. The  

 division also supplies its customers with its own high-performance cutting tools. This blend of  

 expertise in mechanical engineering and cutting technology is unique to the industry. 

 Mikron Assembly Technology develops and manufactures systems for assembling very small  

 to hand-sized products and sub-assemblies. Mikron‘s assembly systems also fulfill the strict  

 requirements for clean-room production in the medtech industry.

The Mikron Group is working towards sustainable corporate value growth for the benefit of 

shareholders, customers and employees alike. The focus is on the continuing expansion of 

earnings power – primarily through its own resources, but supplemented by external measures 

where appropriate. The Group‘s foundation for growth is built on a steady improvement in 

market performance thanks to a 100% focus on customer requirements, outstanding expertise 

and skills on the part of the workforce, the courage to offer creative, ground-breaking solutions 

and the continuous development of proprietary processes.

Find out more about our customers‘ requirements and about Mikron‘s competencies 

on pages 11 to 16.

Mikron Group 
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 - 80 to 120 orders per year 

 - Volume per order: 

  CHF 0.5 m to CHF 6.5 m.

 - 40 to 50 orders per year 

 - Volume per order: 

  CHF 1 m to CHF 12 m.

 - 50 years‘ experience

 - 7000 systems installed

 - 30 years’ experience

 - 1600 systems installed

Mikron Group

Corporate Structure

 
 Mikron SA Agno
 Switzerland
 
 Mikron Tool SA Agno
 Switzerland
 
 Mikron GmbH Rottweil
 Germany
 
 Mikron Corp. Monroe
 USA
 
 Mikron Ltd. Tokyo
 Japan

 
 Mikron SA Boudry
 Switzerland
 
 Mikron Corp. Denver
 USA

Mikron Holding AG 
Switzerland

Mikron Management AG
Switzerland

Mikron Technology Group

Corporate Services

Machining Technology 
Division

Assembly Technology
Division

Production Equipment Segment

 - Machining solutions

 - Cutting tools

 - Services

 - Refurbished machines

 - Assembly solutions

 - Services

Market Offering



6

Mikron Group 

Johann Niklaus Schneider-
Ammann, Chairman of the Board 
of Directors

Report of the Board of Directors

Dear Shareholders  The Mikron Group conducted its activities in the year under review with a 

clear focus on the Production Equipment segment. The company can look back on a success-

ful business year in a healthy market environment. Orders and sales increased and the operating 

result improved. Mikron can also report positive net earnings for 2006, after the previous year‘s 

result was impacted by structural adjustments. 

The progress made over the last few years shows that we are moving in the right direction. 

Quality has always come before quantity. The Mikron Group will abide by this principle, because 

giving quality top priority is the only way to ensure that the company pursues a healthy develop-

ment course.

To arrive at an initial assessment of the year under review, its most important features can be 

summarized from the point of view of the three main stakeholders: customers, shareholders 

and employees. 

Customers  In the competitive environment in which they operate, the Mikron Group‘s custom-

ers find themselves faced with ever faster paced innovation and rising cost pressure. When 

customers decide under these circumstances to make a substantial investment, they have to 

be able to rely on a business partner who can come up with the desired production solution, 

for new components or sub-assemblies for example, at a cost-effective price. For the customer, 

cost-effective primarily means that unit production costs are kept to a minimum. In the longer 

term, it also means establishing ties with a business partner who can guarantee that the latest 

requirements will be incorporated into its future market offering.

At Mikron, an intensive dialogue with our business partners comes as part of the package.  

Only by maintaining such a dialogue and exchanging experiences has the company been able 

to successively develop its business in recent years and focus on consolidating its technol-

ogy leadership. Today, Mikron is recognized as a solution provider delivering to high quality 

standards, a position it has to defend each and every day.

Shareholders  Investors expect the capital they provide to appreciate reasonably in value 

over time. The Mikron Group‘s recent history has been dominated by restructuring measures 

that have burdened the company‘s management and impacted negatively on performance. 

However, these steps were essential for Mikron‘s future development. A point has now been 

reached from which the Group can move forward with a good market offering, a clear strategic 

direction and transparent organizational structures. Current earnings power, however, still falls 

short of expectations. Although operating profit (EBIT) has risen for the third successive year, the 

Mikron Group management is making it one of its top priorities for the coming years.

Mikron‘s shareholder structure was and is characterized by the fact that a substantial amount 

of capital is held by key investors. The relatively small free float left on the equity market can 

be viewed in a number of different ways. Another issue is more important here. These circum-

stances allowed the Mikron Group to do the right thing, and in view of the difficult situation 
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Mikron Group

in which it found itself, this was absolutely necessary. The stability of our shareholder structure 

in general and of the key investors in particular has much to do with personal conviction. With 

the belief that Mikron as a company embodies skills and values that make possible an excellent 

market performance. The foundations have now been laid for profitable growth as well as for a 

long-term increase in company value. 

Employees  The 2006 financial year placed great demands on all our employees. Capacity was 

stretched to the limit over considerable periods of time as a result of the high number of orders, 

both for existing and new customers and market segments, and the very challenging nature of 

these orders. The competencies of our workforce were expanded in line with the requirements 

of the new markets; indeed this is one of the company‘s core tasks.

An ongoing review of internal business processes has shown that new expertise will have to be 

built up for future business. The ever shorter project cycles demand a different way of working, 

but also closer links with business partners to whom more and more responsibility for subsys-

tems is being transferred. The internal adjustments entailed have led to new jobs being created 

and also to existing positions being replaced. Such changes can be very painful for the individu-

als concerned, but they are a necessary part of keeping the company fit and healthy.

To summarize the year under review, the Mikron Group has grown again, increased its earnings 

power and returned to the profit zone. The debt-free Group has a very sound balance sheet 

with an equity ratio of 72 percent and considerable resources that can be devoted to the compa-

ny‘s future development. These are ideal conditions for the operational side of the business and 

provide the best possible basis for potential strategic moves.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank all the employees for their dedicated 

work. Thanks must also go to our customers and business partners, whose cooperation made 

the results now being presented possible in the first place. I would like to express my appreci-

ation to our shareholders for their faith and loyalty, both of which are of material importance 

to the wellbeing of the Mikron Group. I hope that the 2007 financial year will prove to be yet 

another year of progress for the Mikron Group.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, the Chairman

Johann N. Schneider-Ammann
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Mikron Group 

Eduard Rikli
CEO of the Mikron Group

Group operations

Year under review  Developments in the 2006 financial year were accompanied by a funda-

mentally positive mood on all the markets, with investment activity continuing at a healthy 

level. In these marginal operating conditions, the Mikron Group managed to lift sales and 

order volume. With a very good capacity utilisation, further improvements were achieved in 

the company‘s market offering and a higher operating profit (EBIT) was generated. In the year 

under review, a final structural adjustment was made, concluding the realignment of Mikron‘s 

traditional business. 

Our customers, who are very much faced with the challenge of global competition, stepped up 

their efforts to make investment projects more profitable. The trend towards tighter delivery 

deadlines therefore became more pronounced in all the important market segments, accom-

panied by a shortening of the horizon for many projects. Along with the fastest possible time to 

market, pressure on unit costs also increased. These apparently conflicting needs and require-

ments are the fundamentals on which our business is based.

In its Production Equipment segment, the Mikron Group concentrates on developing the best 

possible solution for the individual customer under these conditions. The expertise required to 

do so was further developed at a variety levels in the year under review. To provide solutions that 

are cost-effective for both the customer and the company itself, great importance was placed 

on maintaining standards: standardization – not only of physical products in terms of a modular 

structure, but also in the way projects are managed – represents one key to success.

The Mikron Group has invested a considerable amount of time and energy over the last three 

years in structuring its activities in the Production Equipment segment. When the Axxicon 

Mould Technology Division was sold in 2004, its French subsidiary Seropa Technology was not 

taken over by the buyer. Mikron subsequently took a number of steps to improve the com pany‘s 

orientation. Support was given to staffing measures, targeted replacement investments and 

important customer projects. However, the search for a strategic buyer was unsuccessful. In the 

end, as part of a ”Redressement Judiciaire“ (receivership proceedings), a business partner of 

Seropa Technology acquired half the workforce and significant assets. This represented a satis-

factory outcome.

Results  Improving operating profit (EBIT) was one of the principal targets set for 2006. With 

the figure standing at CHF 9.0 million (2005: CHF 7.6 million), this was achieved, but not quite 

to the extent aimed for. The Machining Technology division made a positive contribution to this 

figure, even though years of effort culminated in its having to post extraordinary expenses in 

relation to customer projects involving an older product line. The Assembly Technology division 

made a solid contribution to operating profit. Measured in terms of actual sales however, 

operating profit did not reach the level we know this business can achieve. The division was 

burdened by an extreme build up of projects, which materialized at the end of 2005 and carried 

over into the year under review, giving rise to additional unbudgeted costs so as to process all 

orders sufficiently quickly.
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Mikron Group

I can sum up by stating that, in spite of the improvement achieved in operating profit, EBIT still 

fell some way short of what could be reasonably expected from the Production Equipment 

segment.

At CHF 4.0 million, the Mikron Group‘s net result for the year was at least in positive territory 

after the loss of CHF 24.6 million that had to be reported in 2005 owing to a book loss. In 2006, 

exchange rate fluctuations gave rise to currency losses totalling CHF 1.9 million. An additional 

negative impact came from the final adjustment to the portfolio, with the divestment of Seropa 

Technology costing CHF 2.0 million.

Orders  At CHF 229 million, order volume clearly exceeded the high level of the previous year 

(CHF 215 million). This figure is a reflection of the general appetite for investment in the markets 

served by the Production Equipment segment.

The Machining Technology division posted a number of orders for the new Mikron NRG-50TM 

machining system, signalling the successful launch of this product in several market segments. 

Demand in the automotive supply industry remained lively, mainly as a result of renewed invest-

ment by our customers in the latest fuel injection technology. Just as important were numerous 

orders from first time customers in new and freshly-targeted market segments. Volume devel-

oped well at the beginning of the year before falling off as expected.

At the Assembly Technology division, orders had already risen significantly in the last three 

months of 2005. A very good first quarter in the year under review led to an extremely high 

order backlog. The introduction of new components for the G05TM assembly system, which 

are more flexible in their application, thus met with unexpected levels of success. The strain on 

capacity that this triggered presented the division with a great challenge. Order volume declined 

again towards the end of the year. In general, a very satisfactory volume was achieved over 

the year as a whole. The division registered very high demand from the medical/personal care 

segment in particular.

Net sales  Net sales lifted significantly year-on-year to stand at CHF 245 million (2005: CHF 

218 million). While the Machining Technology division performed at the expected level, capac-

ity utilization at the Assembly Technology division reached its limits. Order processing remained 

very demanding throughout the entire business year. Internal and external HR measures were 

taken to ensure that work was optimally in line with project requirements.

Cash flow  Operating cash flow of CHF -15 million was well down on the previous year (CHF 

12 million). The funds additionally drawn upon are almost exclusively tied up in customer 

projects. Contributing to this necessity were large orders for new machining systems that are 

still being processed by the Machining Technology division and orders at the Assembly Technol-

ogy division with lengthy project lead times.
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Investments came in just above depreciation. The majority of capital spending took the form of 

replacement investments in fixed assets and important non-tangible investments in the devel-

opment of existing and new product lines.

Productivity and staffing  The moderate year-on-year decrease in productivity shows that 

both divisions were faced with significant challenges, but also that there is still a considerable 

need for improvement.

There was a 1.5% increase in headcount compared with the previous year, with employee 

numbers totalling 998 at year-end. The Machining Technology division reduced the number 

of jobs at its plant in Agno over the course of the year in consideration of the future produc-

tion concept, which envisages more sub-assemblies being bought in from partner companies 

who will manufacture them to our specifications. The Assembly Technology division was able 

to appoint new people to a number of key positions. The headcount adjustment also saw some 

temporary positions being replaced.

Balance sheet  There were no material changes in the balance sheet compared with the year 

before.  Current assets still include a significant volume of resources held either as short-term 

financial assets or as cash and cash equivalents. These funds are earmarked for the ongoing 

expansion of the Mikron Group‘s operations.

The equity ratio rose to 72% (2005: 67%).

Outlook  The 2006 financial year resulted in an order backlog of CHF 73 million, down on the 

prior-year level of CHF 97 million. However, this was soon corrected after the start of the new 

business year since several projects could not be given the green light until the new period. The 

economic environment is in a healthy state and project activity is correspondingly lively. The 

Mikron Group has set itself the target of keeping pace with demand while continuing to deliver 

high quality work. Increasing operating profit (EBIT) remains the top priority.

Thanks  My warmest thanks go to all our staff for the huge effort they have put in and for their 

excellent collaboration. We have got off to a confident start in the new financial year, with fresh 

wind in our sails. Everyone of you has a role to play in helping us take the next step forward.

Dr. Eduard Rikli

CEO of the Mikron Group
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Productivity the key to success 

Solutions for high-volume production 
with low unit costs help make our 
customers more competitive.

Such as manufacturers of writing 
instruments

MultistarTM – a machining solution 
from Mikron Machining Technology
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Flexibility today and tomorrow

Production solutions that grow along with the 
success of a product and can be adapted to its 
lifecycle give our customers the flexibility they 
need to react to change. 

Such as the electric industry

G05TM – an assembly solution 
from Mikron Assembly Technology
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Precision in production

Reliable production solutions delivering 
top-notch precision enable our customers 
to meet their high quality requirements.

Such as suppliers to the automotive industry

MultistarTM – a machining solution 
from Mikron Machining Technology
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Trust in experience

When it comes to decision-making, our 
customers rely on our long-standing 
experience in managing projects and 
dealing with specific industry standards.

Such as the pharma industry

G05TM – an assembly solution 
from Mikron Assembly Technology
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Investments that pay off

Our holistic approach to production means our 
customers are making an investment that is sure 
to pay off.

Such as suppliers to the automotive industry

G05TM – an assembly solution 
from Mikron Assembly Technology
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Securing production and maintaining value

A quick-to-react service organization guarantees that 
any production downtime can be kept to a minimum, 
while also providing customers with wide-ranging, 
added-value machine and tool services. 

Such as the machining industry 

Tool regrinding service – a service 
from Mikron Machining Technology
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Production Equipment

Key figures Production Equipment

   

in CHF million 2006 2005 +/-

Orders 228.7 214.9 6.4%

Machining Technology 128.6 121.1 6.2%

Assembly Technology 100.2 93.8 6.8%

Net sales 244.7 218.4 12.0%

Machining Technology 126.1 119.8 5.3%

Assembly Technology 118.6 98.6 20.2%

EBIT 10.4 11.6 -10.7%

Stock of orders 72.7 96.7 -24.8%

Machining Technology 37.7 44.4 -15.2%

Assembly Technology 35.1 52.3 -32.9%

Number of employees 977 961 1.6%

Machining Technology 588 618 -4.9%

Assembly Technology 389 343 13.3%

Summary

Production Equipment comprises the activities of the Machining Technology and 

Assembly Technology divisions. Both divisions develop and build customized 

production solutions for companies that specialize in high-volume manufacturing. 

The business trend in the Production Equipment segment is shaped by the typical 

influences on project-driven capital goods business. 

Order intake and sales were up on the previous year and in line with expecta-

tions. Around two-thirds of orders were placed in the first half of the year. While 

good progress was made on the road to improving earnings power, the targeted 

increase in operating profit (EBIT) was not achieved. The reasons were to be found 

in the unexpected cancellations of orders for the Machining Technology division, 

which led to extraordinary write-offs totaling CHF 4.4 million in the last quarter, 

as well as expenditures for handling the, at times, very high order backlog at the 

Assembly Technology division.

Both Machining Technology and Assembly Technology entered 2007 with a 

stock of orders significantly below the prior-year level. This is a reflection of the 

low order level in the second half of 2006. Nevertheless, both divisions remain 

optimistic. Order volume is expected to rise further. Improving operating profit 

(EBIT) remains the top priority.

17
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Production Equipment

Machining Technology division

Brief profile  Mikron Machining Technology is one of the two divisions in the Production Equip-

ment business segment of the Mikron Technology Group. The division comprises three produc-

tion sites, Mikron SA Agno (Switzerland, headquarters), Mikron Tool SA Agno (Switzerland) and 

Mikron GmbH Rottweil (Germany), as well as the two sales and service locations Mikron Corp. 

Monroe (USA) and Mikron Ltd. Tokyo (Japan).

Precision in production The Machining Technology division ranks as one of the leading 

suppliers of solutions for the high-volume production of precision parts. The division gener-

ally develops and manufactures machining systems tailored to a specific customer application. 

These systems are deployed mainly by suppliers to the automotive industry as well as manufac-

turers of writing instruments. The division also serves companies in the hydraulics/pneumatics 

industry, the electrical and electronics industries and other industries where the emphasis is on 

top-notch precision and large-volume production. Europe, led by Germany, is currently the most 

important market for the division. The Asian market is becoming increasingly significant and the 

division is continuously expanding its position there. 

Machine and tools from a single source 

Apart from the manufacture of machining 

systems, the development and produc-

tion of cutting tools has long been one of 

the Machining Technology division’s most 

successful offerings. A close correlation exists 

between the activities in this area and customer 

orders for machines. The wealth of technical 

know-how in every aspect of machining tech-

nology combined with specific expertise in the 

design of transfer systems provides an ideal 

basis for optimum production solutions that 

create added value for customers. Mikron 

Machining Technology is the only manufacturer 

that can offer a single source of supply for both machine and tools – a unique combination to 

the industry. 

Complementary market services Over the past few years there has been strong growth in 

the service business and in business with refurbished Mikron machines. With its active service 

organ ization, Mikron offers a host of services for assuring production and maintaining the value 

of production equipment. This includes a regrinding service for cutting tools that guarantees 

the original performance of the tool. 

The business with refurbished and reconfigured Mikron machines is currently centered around a 

product line that has sold successfully for many years, and is aimed at companies that only have 

a limited budget available for a production solution.

Shop floor at Mikron SA Agno 
(Switzerland), the division‘s main 
production site
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Business trend  The 2006 business year was marked by a good order intake in the first 

half, attainment of series production status by the Mikron NRG-50TM and a review of 

internal structures and processes to identify ways of improving profitability.

The business environment in which the Machin-

ing Technology division operates saw virtu-

ally no change in 2006. The reorientation by a 

major European car manufacturer in the sector 

of fuel injection technology also impacted 

on the supply industry that Mikron serves. 

Although this somewhat clouded the mood 

among investors in Europe, customer appetite 

for investment still remained at an attractively 

high level.

Order intake edged up slightly year-on-year 

and was in line with expectations. The division 

acquired a large number of new customers, 

some of them in new or freshly-targeted market segments. The first orders for the new Mikron 

NRG-50TM machining system accounted for a significant share of total machine orders.

Sales volume was also up slightly on the previous year, but failed to meet expectations fully. 

Increased sales in the tools segment compensated in part for the somewhat weaker sales of 

machines. Overall, capacity utilization at the division remained at a good level throughout the 

whole year.

Around three-quarters of the division’s sales are to suppliers of components to the automotive 

industry. These companies use machines and cutting tools, for example, for manufacturing the 

latest generation of injection systems and for other engine components. Another significant 

percentage of sales is accounted for the writing instrument industry. For many years now, about 

95 percent of the 40 billion ballpoint pen tips manufactured annually worldwide have been 

produced on machines supplied by Mikron.

Operating profit (EBIT) was on a par with the previous year’s level and thus fell short of expec-

tations. Although the company made good progress towards improving its profitability, 

unexpected isolated events in the last quarter prevented the division achieving its target for the 

year under review. 

Specifically, this involved a handful of orders from which customers withdrew before comple-

tion of the system, and although small in number these represented a substantial order volume. 

All these orders concern an older product line, whose application profile had to be restricted as 

a result of the latest findings. Extraordinary write-offs amounting to CHF 4.4 million had to be 

made in the year under review for non-chargeable services and for materials. The product line 

The Mikron Machining Technology 
management team (back row 
l. to r.): Raffaele Olgiati, Laurent 
Vuille, Oskar Weder, Peter 
Schneck, Koichi Tsugami, Daniele 
Pigat; (front row l. to r.): Gennaro 
Teta, Adriano Zamprogna, Peter 
Krattiger, Markus Schnyder, 
Giordano Gaboardi, Franz Wyss
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will continue to be marketed for proven applications, for example repeat orders in connection 

with successfully completed customer projects. 

Outlook No change is expected in the business fundamentals in 2007. The lower stock of work 

in hand compared with the previous year poses a challenge for the division, which is aiming for a 

slight increase in volume and a significant improvement in operating profit (EBIT).

One step ahead of customer requirements  At Mikron Machining Technology, there is a 

growing trend in customer requirements towards greater complexity of parts, more frequent 

product updates and smaller production runs. Today, the systems supplied by the division must 

be capable of fast and economical reconfiguration for new production runs, and customers ask 

for this increased flexibility with no loss of machine performance.

In 2005, Mikron Machining Technology responded to the identified trend by developing a new 

rotary transfer machining system to provide the flexibility demanded. One year on from its 

market rollout, it is already clear that the Mikron NRG-50TM machining system offers the answer 

to present and future customer requirements in many respects, including flexibility.

Parallel to the development of new system 

solutions, the division is also working on the 

further development of existing product lines to 

improve their price/performance ratio. Mikron 

Machining Technology is thus already one step 

ahead of most customer requirements, in this 

way consolidating its strong position on the 

market.

Mikron NRG-50TM – the newest 
machining system from Mikron 
Machining Technology: both 
highly productive and highly 
flexible

Production Equipment
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Assembly Technology division 

Brief profile  Mikron Assembly Technology is one of the two divisions in the Production Equip-

ment business segment of the Mikron Technology Group. The division comprises two compa-

nies, Mikron SA Boudry (Switzerland, headquarters) and Mikron Corp. Denver (USA). 

High-performance assembly solutions

Mikron Assembly Technology develops and 

builds assembly systems that are used by 

customers for high-volume production. The 

systems are manufactured individually and 

to order. The division has a wealth of experi-

ence in the assembly of small to hand-sized 

products where highest standards of precision 

and quality are required. For many years Mikron 

Assembly Technology has ranked as one of the 

world’s leading suppliers of technically mature 

automation and assembly solutions. 

Systems from Mikron Assembly Technology are 

in great demand from companies operating in the medical and personal care sector and suppli-

ers to the automotive industry. The division also serves companies in the electric and electronics 

industries as well as the consumer goods sector. Geographically, its main markets are in Western 

Europe and the U.S.A.

Highly standardized yet individual In the linear assembly system G05TM, the division has a 

high-performance assembly platform with considerable customer appeal due to its modular 

construction and the flexibility this offers. The wide selection of assembly and feeding modules 

available has been enlarged continuously over the years. This allows Mikron Assembly Tech-

nology to respond to the different production volumes and investment resources of its 

customers. About 90% of all new orders today are based on this solution.

The key to success of this assembly system is its high level of standardization. This has two 

advantages for customers. Firstly, they profit from short delivery times since the G05TM basis 

machine and the basic modules can be prefabricated prior to the order being placed. And 

secondly, they can rely on tried and tested, state-of-the-art technology being used for the 

assembly and machining processes wherever possible.

The project teams at Mikron Assembly Technology thus have an advanced modular system 

ready to hand. The engineers can thus concentrate fully on meeting the customer’s specific 

requirements and on further developing the assembly system into an individual assembly 

solution.

Shop floor at Mikron SA Boudry 
(Switzerland), the division‘s main 
production site

Production Equipment
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Business trend  The 2006 business year was marked by an exceptionally high level of 

order intake in the first quarter, which resulted in a challenging order processing situa-

tion, a pronounced upturn in sales, and the further development of the G05TM assembly 

platform.

In 2006, the Assembly Technology division 

operated in a more or less unchanged business 

environment. There was a noticeable surge 

in investment activity on the part of Assem-

bly Technology’s customers, which had already 

manifested itself in the last quarter of 2005 and 

continued through into the first quarter of the 

year under review. 

Order intake was slightly up on the previous 

year and thus in line with expectations. The 

division recorded an unusually high order intake 

in the first quarter of 2006, building on the 

already pleasing order backlog with which the 

company started the year. As expected, order intake subsequently dropped off, remaining at a 

low level until the end of the year. The good mix in terms of market segments and regions was 

gratifying. 

Sales volume was well up on the previous year and exceeded expectations by a clear margin. 

This was partly due to the fact that a large proportion of orders were received in the first quarter 

and were completed within the same year. On the other hand, the accumulated orders as per 

the end of March posed a major challenge for the division, making order processing a compli-

cated task right up to the fourth quarter. Capacity utilization at the division ran at a very high 

level and headcount was adjusted accordingly. 

Nearly half of the division‘s sales were to companies in the medical and personal care industry. 

Its main customers were manufacturers of self-medication devices such as insulin pens or inhal-

ers. Suppliers to car manufacturers accounted for slightly over a quarter of sales. These custom-

ers use solutions from the Assembly Technology division, for example, for airbag ignition units 

or fuel injection sub-assemblies. 

Operating profit (EBIT) was down slightly year-on-year and, in view of the marked increase 

in sales, fell short of expectations. The high capacity utilization at the division had a negative 

impact on its earnings power. The result was impacted by expenditure for handling the, at 

times, very high order backlog and by a number of challenging orders. Up-front costs for further 

development of the G05TM assembly platform were an additional burden. All in all, though, the 

division‘s profitability remained at a satisfactory level.

The Mikron Assembly Technology 
management team (l. to r.): 
Werner Beck, Clark Neft, Alex 
Wyss, Markus Brülhart, Rolf Rihs, 
Markus Werro, Josef Neuen-
schwander, Felix Arrieta

Production Equipment
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Assembly solution featuring 
the newest feeding and assem-
bly units of the G05TM product 
platform

Outlook No change is expected in the business fundamentals in 2007. Although the order 

backlog is considerably lower compared with the previous year there are some interesting 

customer projects in the pipeline which are currently in the acquisition phase. Orders have been 

placed for several projects since the beginning of the year. The target is to maintain order and 

sales volume at last year’s high level while improving the operating profit (EBIT).

Fit for the future  Innovation is an ongoing process at Mikron Assembly Technology. Since the 

market rollout of the G05TM assembly cell in 2002, the product line has undergone continu-

ous further development and evolved into a truly modular system. Today, the G05TM assembly 

platform comprises high-performance assembly cells as well as small assembly units and intelli-

gent feeding systems. 

The ongoing development of proprietary concepts and services reflects the division‘s absolute 

focus on customers and the market. Here is a selection of the latest developments with which 

Mikron Assembly Technology is consolidating its market position or targeting new customer 

segments:

 Introduction of the G05TM Assembly Center: expansion of the G05TM assembly platform for  

 customers and applications with lower-volume requirements.

 Introduction of Mikron‘s own palletizing system, the G05TM Palletizer: an in-house solution  

 for a key peripheral process in assembly systems.

 Increased performance for the G05TM  

 Polyfeed system: higher feeding rate and a  

 wider range of applications.

 Build-up of additional know-how in the area  

 of assembly, machining and feeding   

 processes: reliable assembly solutions from a  

 single source.

 Doubling of resources in the technical service  

 area and for after-sales service: meeting the  

 increasing requirements of customers.

 Harmonization of the validation processes in  

 the medtech sector: less time expenditure  

 plus cost savings for the customer.

Almost every day, Mikron Assembly Technology faces new challenges posed by customers of the 

division. By keeping fit for the future, the division can meet these requirements.

Production Equipment
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Corporate Structure & Shareholders

Corporate Structure  Based in Biel, Mikron Holding AG is organized as a holding company 

under Swiss law and directly or indirectly holds all Mikron companies worldwide. Mikron 

Holding AG is listed on SWX Swiss Exchange in Zurich (Swiss securities number 339’006) and 

on December 31, 2006 had a market capitalization of CHF 239 million. At operating level, the 

Mikron Group is made up of two divisions organized into one business segment, Corporate 

Services and other companies controlled by Mikron Holding AG. 

The divisions are structured according to product and service type and encompass all the 

functions required by an independent company, such as sales, development, production, logis-

tics and administration. The centralized special departments, such as Accounting and Control-

ling, Treasury, Corporate Communications and Corporate IT Services, are part of the Corporate 

Service, which supports the individual companies as well as the Board of Directors and Group 

Management in their management and control functions.

The Mikron Group consists of 9 companies worldwide. The corporate structure and the compa-

nies are listed on page 82. The Mikron Group’s management structure is independent of its legal 

structure.

Significant Shareholders  The following table illustrates the shareholder structure of Mikron 

Holding AG. It also lists and names those shareholders who, as at December 31, 2006, hold 5% 

or more of the voting rights of Mikron Holding AG.

1 This group of investors comprises Ammann Group Holding AG, Corporate Investment 

Management Affentranger Holding AG, Personalfürsorgestiftung Rieter AG, Tegula AG and 

Mr Rudolf Maag, who until 2008 are bound together by a shareholder pooling agreement with 

a fixed term of 5 years.

Cross-Shareholdings   There are no cross-shareholdings consisting of either capital or voting 

rights.

 31.12.2006  31.12.2005
 Number of shares of  Number of shares of
Shareholders CHF -.10 par value each  CHF -.10 par value each  

Group of investors1 11,742,941 70.3% 11,742,941 70.9%

Public shareholders 4,904,843 29.3% 4,770,143 28.8%

Board of Directors and
Group Management 64,960 0.4% 51,960 0.3%

Total 16,712,744 100.0% 16,565,044 100.0%

Corporate Governance

The corporate governance 
report describes the main princi-
ples and regulations regarding 
the management and control 
of the Mikron Group and how 
these principles and regulations 
were established in detail by the 
company’s senior management. 
The report is in compliance with 
the Swiss Exchange (SWX) guide-
lines published on July 1, 2002 
regarding information on corpo-
rate governance. Aspects of the 
SWX guidelines not covered in 
this report are either not appli-
cable or irrelevant to the Mikron 
Group.
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Capital Structure

Capital  The Mikron Group’s capital as at December 31, 2006:

 Registered shares Par value in CHF Total in CHF

Ordinary capital 16,712,744 0.10 1,671,274.40

Authorized capital 0  0.00

Conditional capital 620,799 0.10 62,079.90

The company‘s share capital may increase by a maximum amount of CHF 62,079.90 through 

the issuance of no more than 620,799 fully paid-up registered shares with a par value of 

CHF 0.10 each through

 the exercise of options or conversion rights granted to their holders in connection with the  

 company‘s bonds or similar debentures 

 and/or the exercise of option rights allotted to the shareholders and/or the company‘s Board of  

 Directors and management.

The number of registered shares securing management option rights is limited to a maximum of 

550,000 registered shares. 

As at the cut-off date, the company had not entered into any commitments that would result in 

these registered shares being created.

Changes in capital over the last 3 years

  Number   Ordinary
in CHF  of shares Par value capital

2004 As at January 1 16,120,975 0.10 1,612,097.50

 Exercise of creditors‘ options 444,069 0.10 44,406.90

 As at December 31 16,565,044 0.10 1,656,504.40

2005 As at January 1 16,565,044 0.10 1,656,504.40

 Change 0 0.10 0.00

 As at December 31 16,565,044 0.10 1,656,504.40

2006 As at January 1 16,565,044 0.10 1,656,504.40

 Exercise of creditors‘ options 147,700 0.10 14,770.00

 As at December 31 16,712,744 0.10 1,671,274.40

Shares  The issued registered shares are fully paid in. Each registered share carries one vote at 

Mikron Holding AG’s Annual General Meetings. Voting rights may be exercised only after the 

shareholder has been entered as a shareholder with voting rights in Mikron Holding AG’s share 

register.

Participation and dividend right certificates  Mikron Holding AG has issued neither partici-

pation certificates nor dividend right certificates.

Limits on transferability and nominee registrations  There are no limits on transferability or 

nominee registrations. 

Convertible bonds and options  There are no convertible bonds or options outstanding. 

Corporate Governance
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Members of the Board of Directors
(from left to right): 
Heinrich Spoerry, Anton
 Affentranger (Vice-Chairman), 
Johann Niklaus Schneider-
Ammann (Chairman), Andreas 
Steiner, Peter Forstmoser

Corporate Governance

Board of Directors

Members of the Board of Directors  The company’s Board of Directors consists of five 

members. None of them maintains a significant business relationship with the Group. The 

Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors shared the role of CEO in an interim 

management arrangement between the Annual General Meeting in June 2003 and the end of 

that year, when the new CEO joined the company. 

The following table provides information on each of the members of the Board of Directors as at 

December 31, 2006:

Johann N. Schneider-Ammann became CEO of the Ammann Group in 1988 and has been 

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Managing Director of Ammann Group Holding AG in 

Langenthal since 1990. Alongside his professional activities, he is also a member of the Swiss 

National Council and President of Swissmem (Association of Swiss Mechanical and Electrical 

Engineering Industries). In addition, he sits on the Board of Directors of the Swatch Group in Biel 

and of a number of SMEs. 

Johann N. Schneider-Ammann

Dipl. Ing. ETH

Born in 1952

Swiss

Chairman, non-executive 

First elected 1991

Elected until 2008

Johann N. Schneider-Ammann

Dipl. Ing. ETH

Born in 1952

Swiss

Chairman, non-executive 

First elected 1991

Elected until 2008
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After holding a variety of positions within the international financial industry, Anton Affen-

tranger became Executive Vice President and Member of the Enlarged Group Executive Board 

of UBS in 1996, a function he occupied until 1998. From 1998 – 2000, he was Managing 

Partner and CEO of the private bank Lombard, Odier & Cie in Geneva. In 2001, Mr Affentranger 

became Chief Financial Officer and Member of the Executive Committee of the F. Hoffmann-

La Roche pharmaceutical group in Basel. Subsequently, Anton Affentranger has been active 

as an entrepreneur in various capacities: as founder and Chairman of Affentranger Associates 

AG, Chairman of Corporate Investment Management Affentranger Holding AG and of Dartfish 

AG. He serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors at Zschokke Holding AG and as a member 

of the Board of Directors at Ammann Group. He is also Chairman of the Board of Directors of 

Transmission Technology Holding AG and of the Board of Trustees of Fondation Casin. 

Peter Forstmoser has been professor of civil, commercial and capital market law at the Univer-

sity of Zurich since 1974 and a partner at the Zurich law firm Niederer Kraft & Frey since 1975. 

In 2000, he took up office as Chairman of the Board of Directors at the global reinsurer Swiss 

Re. He also chairs the Board of Directors at Hesta AG and Hesta Tex AG, Zug. Mr Forstmoser is a 

member of the Board of Directors of Familie Ernst Basler AG and of the Müller Möhl Group and 

Vice President of the Board of Trustees of the Gebert Rüf Stiftung, a scientific foundation.

From 1987 – 1995, Heinrich Spoerry was a member of the Executive Board of Staefa Control 

Systems AG in his capacity as Head of Finance, Controlling and Information Technology. He held 

a seat on the Executive Board at Cerberus AG, a fire detection and security systems manufac-

turer in Männedorf, from 1996 – 1998. Mr Spoerry then became Chairman of the Board of 

Directors and CEO of the SFS Gruppe in Heerbrugg, a position he has occupied since 1998. He is 

a member of the Board of Directors of Industrieholding Cham AG, of Tegula AG in Zurich and of 

Bucher Industries AG.

Andreas Steiner was a member of the Management Committee of ABB Switzerland from 1993 

to 1999. Since then he has been CEO and Chairman of the Board of Directors at Belimo Holding 

AG, Hinwil. Mr Steiner is a member of the University of Zurich’s University Council, Chairman of 

the Economiesuisse research commission, and a member of the Board of Trustees at the Hasler 

Foundation in Berne. 

 

Anton Affentranger

lic. oec.

Born in 1956

Swiss

Vice-Chairman, non-executive 

First elected 2003

Elected until 2009

Anton Affentranger

lic. oec.

Born in 1956

Swiss

Vice-Chairman, non-executive 

First elected 2003

Elected until 2009

Peter Forstmoser

Prof. Dr. iur., LL.M.

Born in 1943

Swiss

Member, non-executive 

First elected 1976

Elected until 2008

Peter Forstmoser

Prof. Dr. iur., LL.M.

Born in 1943

Swiss

Member, non-executive 

First elected 1976

Elected until 2008

Heinrich Spoerry

lic. oec., MBA

Born in 1951

Swiss

Member, non-executive 

First elected 2001

Elected until 2007

Heinrich Spoerry

lic. oec., MBA

Born in 1951

Swiss

Member, non-executive 

First elected 2001

Elected until 2007

Andreas Steiner

Dipl. Ing. ETH, Dr. sc. techn. ETH

Born in 1945

Swiss

Member, non-executive 

First elected 2003

Elected until 2009

Andreas Steiner

Dipl. Ing. ETH, Dr. sc. techn. ETH

Born in 1945

Swiss

Member, non-executive 

First elected 2003

Elected until 2009
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Cross-Involvements  There are no cross-involvements among the Board of Directors of this and 

any other company. The main mandates of members of the Mikron Board of Directors can be 

found on pages 26/27.

Elections and Terms of Office  Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the company’s Board 

of Directors consists of at least five and at most nine members, who are elected by the Annual 

General Meeting for a three-year term and who may be re-elected to successive terms. Messrs 

Affentranger and Steiner were re-elected in 2006. 

After reaching the age of 65, members of the Board of Directors are required to tender their 

resignation at the next Annual General Meeting. 

Duties  The duties of Mikron Holding AG’s Board of Directors are defined in the Swiss Code of 

Obligations, the Articles of Association and the Organizational Regulations. 

The Board of Directors is the company’s most senior body with responsibility for management 

supervision. It issues guidelines on corporate policy and keeps itself informed about the course 

of business.

The primary duties of the Board of Directors are:

 Strategic direction and management of the Mikron Group,

 Determining the organization, appointing and dismissing members of Group Management  

 and other key executives,

 Shaping accounting as well as financial planning, policy and controls,

 Preparing the annual report and the Annual General Meeting and executing resolutions  

 passed by the latter,

 Determining the risk management principles

The Board of Directors convenes as often as business requires but at least four times a year. 

During the 2006 business year, the Board held six meetings including teleconferences. Meetings 

at which members are physically present last between four and eight hours. Average atten-

dance by Board members was 97% during that period.

Prior to the meetings, the members of the Board of Directors receive documentation allowing 

them to be properly prepared to discuss the items on the agenda.

A quorum of the Board of Directors is reached when at least half of the members are present. 

The Board passes its resolutions by a majority of the votes cast. In the event of a tied vote, the 

Chairman has the deciding vote. 

Corporate Governance
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Committees   Two committees were set up to support the Board of Directors: the Audit 

Committee and the Remuneration Committee. The committees meet regularly and are required 

to prepare minutes of their meetings and recommendations for perusal at the regular meetings 

of the Board of Directors. The committees notify the full Board of Directors of important matters 

immediately.

Audit Committee  The Audit Committee’s primary task is to maintain a comprehensive and 

efficient auditing system for Mikron Holding AG and the Mikron Group. The committee also 

rates the external and internal auditors, approves the focal points of the audits, and reviews the 

audit results, accounting principles and financial control mechanisms.

 

The members of the Audit Committee are the Board members Peter Forstmoser (Chairman) 

and Heinrich Spoerry. Four meetings were held in the 2006 business year, each lasting for two 

to three hours. The CEO and CFO attended these meetings on behalf of Group Management. 

Representatives of the internal audit function and of the external auditors were invited to the 

meetings as required. The external auditor-in-chief and the head of internal audit each took part 

in two Audit Committee meetings.

Remuneration Committee  The Remuneration Committee submits to the full Board of Direc-

tors proposals concerning the compensation (including employee participation scheme) of the 

members of the Board of Directors and Group Management. Details of the Mikron Group’s 

remuneration policy can be found on page 33.

The members of the Remuneration Committee are the Board members Heinrich Spoerry (Chair-

man) and Peter Forstmoser. One meeting was held in the 2006 business year. The CEO attended 

these meetings on behalf of Group Management whenever the items on the agenda so 

required.

Corporate Governance
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Information and Control Instruments vis-à-vis Group Management   The following 

measures ensure that the Board of Directors has sufficient information for an adequate decision-

making process: 

 Financial statements (balance sheet, income statement) are prepared for each of the subsidi -

 aries on a monthly basis. These figures are consolidated at division, segment and Group level  

 and compared against the prior-year figures, the monthly budget and the forecast, which is  

 revised on a quarterly basis. In addition, a medium-term plan spanning three years is prepared  

 for each division and segment. 

 Each month, the division heads (Chief Operating Officers) submit a written report to the  

 holding company detailing the extent to which their targets have been met. At the Board of  

 Directors’ meetings, these reports are discussed with the CEO, the CFO and, if necessary, with  

 the COOs.

 By request, other executives will attend Board meetings to report on their areas of respon -

 sibility.

 Group Management informs the Board of Directors about current business by regularly distrib- 

 uting important information and, if necessary, in teleconferences.

 The Audit Committee meets regularly with executives and external consultants. It coordinates  

 the work of external and internal auditors and receives their reports. Ernst & Young has been  

 given a mandate to perform the internal audit function. 

 The strategic and operational risks are regularly recorded and assessed at divisional level. On  

 the basis of this process, the Group Management provides the Board of Directors with a report  

 on the Group‘s risk profile once a year.

 The CEO and CFO generally take part in meetings of the Board of Directors.

Once a year, the Board of Directors assesses the performance of its own members, the Chair-

man and the CEO and approves the targets for the next year.
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Group Management

Management Philosophy  The Mikron Group delegates entrepreneurial responsibility to the 

lowest possible level. The management structure is based on decentralized responsibility and 

rapid decision-making channels close to each of the local markets.

Management Structure  The Board of Directors delegates the task of operational manage-

ment to the CEO of the Mikron Group. The COOs and the CFO report to the CEO. The Group’s 

Organizational Regulations set out the rights and duties of the Board of Directors, the CEO, the 

divisions and the Corporate Service and describe how these cooperate.

Chief Executive Officer  The CEO is responsible for the management of the Group insofar as 

this task has not been assigned by law, the Articles of Association or the Organizational Rules to 

any other corporate body. 

He prepares the strategy, the long-term and medium-term targets and the management guide-

lines for the Mikron Group before submitting them to the Board of Directors for approval. 

On the recommendation of the CEO, the Board of Directors takes its decisions on the annual 

budget (consolidated and for the holding company), individual key projects, financial state-

ments (separate and consolidated) and personnel issues. The CEO submits to the Remuneration 

Committee proposals concerning the compensation of the members of Group Management.

The CEO regularly reports to the Board of Directors on current business developments, antici-

pated opportunities and risks, and changes at lower management levels. The members of the 

Board of Directors may request additional information. The CEO must notify the Chairman of 

the Board of Directors immediately when significant unanticipated developments occur.

The CEO reviews compliance with the Articles of Association, the Organizational Regulations 

and the authorization to sign and proposes amendments should they become necessary.

Chief Operating Officers  The Chief Operating Officers manage their respective divisions in 

accordance with the internal Organizational Regulations and are responsible for their division’s 

earnings. 

Corporate Governance
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The following table provides information on each of the members of Group Management as at 

December 31, 2006:

 

After many years in various managerial positions at the Sulzer Group, Eduard Rikli took up the 

position of CEO at Mikron on January 1, 2004. Mr Rikli is also a governor of the Zurich College 

of Technology, Economics and Administration and sits on the Board of Trustees of the Zurich 

College of Technology. Eduard Rikli is a member of the Board of Directors of Brütsch/Rüegger AG.

Andreas Moser worked in various functions at the Ascom Group before joining Mikron in 1998 

as Division Controller Machining Technology. From 2001 onwards, he headed up the Group’s 

Business Controlling unit. He became interim finance director in June 2003 and CFO of the 

Mikron Group in January 2004.

Markus Schnyder has been employed in various functions at the Mikron Group for over 20 years. 

In 1998, he took over as head of what was then a newly founded subsidiary, Mikron Tool SA 

Agno specializing in cutting tools. Since the end of 2003, he has managed the division together 

with Franz Wyss.

Eduard Rikli 

Dipl. Ing. ETH, Dr. sc. techn. ETH

Born in 1951

Swiss

Chief Executive Officer

Since 2004

Eduard Rikli 

Dipl. Ing. ETH, Dr. sc. techn. ETH

Born in 1951

Swiss

Chief Executive Officer

Since 2004

Andreas Moser 

Betriebsökonom HWV

Born in 1962

Swiss

Chief Financial Officer

Since 1998

Andreas Moser 

Betriebsökonom HWV

Born in 1962

Swiss

Chief Financial Officer

Since 1998

Markus Schnyder

Born in 1958

Swiss

Co-Chief Operating Officer

Mikron Machining Technology 

Since 1981

Markus Schnyder

Born in 1958

Swiss

Co-Chief Operating Officer

Mikron Machining Technology 

Since 1981
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Franz Wyss joined Mikron SA Agno in 1990 as head of a business unit. He has held various 

managerial functions and between 1999 and 2000 relocated an entire product line to Germany, 

where he set up a new mechanical engineering company. Since the end of 2003, he has 

managed the division together with Markus Schnyder.

Rolf Rihs took over as COO of the Assembly Technology division in mid-2002, prior to which he 

worked for the Sulzer Group for eight years in various regions and functions. He was pre viously 

a consultant at Helbling Management Consulting working on numerous projects for well-

known Swiss companies.

Management Contracts  There are no management contracts.

Compensations, Shareholdings and Loans

Content and Method of Determining the Compensation and the Shareholding 

Programs  The basic principles of the remuneration policy are drawn up by the Remuneration 

Committee and approved annually by the full Board of Directors, which also endorses bonus 

programs and employee participation programs. The Board of Directors sets the salaries of the 

Board of Directors and the Group Management on the basis of the Remuneration Committee’s 

proposals.

The members of the Board of Directors receive a basic compensation plus a bonus in the form of 

free shares with a lock-up period of four years during which they may not be sold. 

The Mikron Group’s senior managers receive performance-related compensation. The variable 

component – 15% to 50% of the overall salary – depends on the individual achieving the 

performance targets set a year in advance and on the return on investment generated by the 

operating unit in question.

In 2006 an employee share purchase plan was introduced, enabling a group of 40 manage-

ment members to acquire Mikron Holding AG registered shares at favourable conditions. The 

discount on the market price came to 35%. The shares are subject to a three-year lock-up 

period. The Board of Directors decides each year on the continuation of the employee share 

purchase plan, those eligible to participate and the conditions attached.  

Franz Wyss

Dipl. Ing. FH/NDU

Born in 1956

Swiss

Co-Chief Operating Officer 

Mikron Machining Technology

Since 1990

Franz Wyss

Dipl. Ing. FH/NDU

Born in 1956

Swiss

Co-Chief Operating Officer 

Mikron Machining Technology

Since 1990

Rolf Rihs

Dipl. Ing. ETH

Born in 1963

Swiss

Chief Operating Officer 

Mikron Assembly Technology

Since 2002

Rolf Rihs

Dipl. Ing. ETH

Born in 1963

Swiss

Chief Operating Officer 

Mikron Assembly Technology

Since 2002
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Compensation for Acting Members of Governing Bodies and Group Management  

The compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors in the 2006 business year 

amounted to CHF 421’606 in total.

The compensation paid to the members of Group Management (5 people) for the 2006 

business year amounted to CHF 2,442,737.

Compensation for Former Members of Governing Bodies and Group Management  In 

the 2006 business year, no compensation was paid to former members of governing bodies or 

Group Management who terminated their function before the year under review.

Share Allotment during the 2006 business year  In the 2006 financial year, the members 

of the Board of Directors were allocated a total of 4,000 shares as a bonus. Members of Group 

Management acquired 9,000 Mikron Holding AG registered shares as part of the employee 

stock option plan. 

Share Ownership  The group of investors holding 11,742,941 registered shares has three 

representatives on the Board of Directors. Additionally, according to the share register as at 

December 31, 2006, members of the Board of Directors and parties closely linked to them hold 

48,660 Mikron Holding AG registered shares in total. Members of Group Management hold 

16,300 registered shares.  

Options  There were no outstanding management options as at December 31, 2006. 

Additional fees and remunerations  No additional fees or remunerations were paid.

Loans Granted to Governing Bodies  No loans were granted to members of governing 

bodies.

Highest Total Compensation  The highest total compensation received by a member of the 

Board of Directors in 2006 came to the sum of CHF 137,944 and comprised cash compensation 

of CHF 117,524 as well as a bonus in the form of an allocation of free shares worth CHF 20,420.
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Shareholders’ Participation Rights

Shareholder Legitimacy  Those persons entered in Mikron Holding AG’s share register may 

exercise the voting rights attached to their registered shares.

The Board of Directors keeps a record of the entries in a share register containing the names and 

addresses of the shareholders and beneficiaries. 

The Board of Directors is entitled to refuse entry in the share register if the applicant supplies 

false information regarding his person or his entitlement to the shares or if he supplies no infor-

mation or false information regarding the person of the trustor, when acting in a fiduciary 

capacity.

Shareholders’ Rights  Each registered share carries one vote at the Annual General Meeting. 

There are no shares affording preferential voting rights.

Voting-Right Restrictions and Representation  Mikron does not impose any voting-right 

restrictions. Shareholders who are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting in person may 

appoint someone as their proxy by giving him/her written authorization to represent them.

Convocation of the Annual General Meeting and Agenda  The invitation to the Annual 

General Meeting goes out at least twenty days prior to the event and takes the form of a single 

notice published in the Schweizerisches Handelsamtsblatt and a letter sent to the address of 

shareholders entered in the share register.  

The convening notice should cite the agenda items and proposals of the Board of Directors and 

the shareholders who have requested that a General Meeting be held or an item placed on the 

agenda.

Entries in the Share Register  For three days before and three days after the Annual General 

Meeting, no entries will be made in the share register. 

Quorums at the Annual General Meeting  The Annual General Meeting passes its resolu-

tions and carries out its elections with an absolute majority of the share votes represented unless 

the law or the Articles of Association specify otherwise. 
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Changes of Control and Defence Measures

Duty to Make an Offer  The legal provisions according to Art. 32 (1) of the Swiss Stock 

Exchange and Securities Trading Act (SESTA) apply. Therefore, any party whose voting rights 

exceed the 33.33% limit, directly, indirectly or as a result of an agreement with third parties, is 

obliged to make a public purchase offer. 

Clauses on Changes of Control  There are no clauses on changes of control in favour of the 

members of the Board of Directors, Group Management or other employees.

Auditors

The auditors perform their work in accordance with the statutory provisions and apply both the 

Swiss auditing standards and the International Standards on Auditing.

The Annual General Meeting elects the auditors for one year at a time. 

Since 2004, PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Berne has held the auditing mandate at Mikron 

Holding AG, its companies and the Mikron Group. Hanspeter Gerber, as lead auditor, is respon-

sible for the mandate. 

Auditing Fees and Additional Fees  In the 2006 business year, PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, 

Berne charged the Mikron Group CHF 272,000 for services rendered in connection with audit-

ing the 2006 annual financial statements of Mikron Holding AG and its subsidiaries and the 

consolidated financial statements of the Mikron Group. PricewaterhouseCoopers performed 

additional services for the Mikron Group in 2006 amounting to CHF 137,000.  

Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit  The Audit Committee of the 

Board of Directors takes note of the audit strategy and approves the audit focus for the current 

year. The results of the interim audits are submitted to the Audit Committee for information 

purposes. The external auditors inform the Audit Committee verbally and in writing of the 

results of the audit of the annual financial statements. 

Group management informs the Audit Committee on a yearly basis of planned “non-audit“ 

services to be provided by the external auditors. In 2006, the tax advisory services of Pricewater-

houseCoopers were called upon. 

For further information regarding auditing, please see the chapter entitled “Audit Committee” 

on page 29.
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Information Policy

Mikron Holding AG pursues an up-to-date and transparent information policy for the public 

and the financial markets, with all interest groups being treated equally. 

Key dates

End of the business year  December 31

Guidance on the 2005 business year  End of January

Announcement of the annual results / Publication of the Annual Report Mid-March

Annual General Meeting  End of April

End of the first six months of the business year  June 30

Announcement of the semi-annual results  End of July

Detailed information is published on the Mikron Group’s website at www.mikron.com. Visitors 

to the website can also view the current share price, the annual report and all press releases, and 

subscribe to receive news updates and the press releases free of charge.

As well as the in-depth annual and semi-annual reports, the company also publishes quarterly 

order and sales figures. 

In addition to publishing its financial results, the Mikron Group also keeps the public abreast of 

current changes and developments. Mikron Holding AG publishes information on events rel e-

vant to the share price in accordance with SWX Swiss Exchange regulations regarding ad hoc 

publicity.

At the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors and Group Management report on the 

financial statements and the business trend and answer shareholders’ questions.

Corporate Governance
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Consolidated Financial Statements 2006 
of the Mikron Group

Consolidated Income Statement

CHF 1‘000, except for per share information Note 2006  2005 

Net Sales 5.1 244‘660   218‘392

Change work in process/finished goods  -593  9‘813

Capitalized own production  3‘780  2‘388

Operating Output  247‘847 100% 230‘593 100%

Material costs and subcontractors 5.2 -107‘001  -92‘939

Personnel expenses 5.3 -99‘921  -93‘915

Other operating income 5.4 7‘993  8‘235

Other operating expenses 5.5 -31‘045  -34‘470

Depreciation and amortization 6.6, 6.7 -8‘901  -9‘893

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)  8‘972 4% 7‘611 3%

Financial income 5.6 4‘901  11‘303

Financial expenses 5.6 -7‘117  -9‘669

Earnings before taxes  6‘756 3% 9‘245 4%

Income taxes 5.7 -773  3‘917

Net Earnings from continued operations  5‘983 2% 13‘162 6%

Net Earnings from discontinued operations 7.1 -2‘000 -1% -37‘720 -16%

Net Earnings  3‘983 2% -24‘558 -11%

Net Earnings per share continued operations - basic  0.36  0.79

Net Earnings per share continued operations - diluted  0.36  0.79 

Net Earnings per share discontinued operations - basic  -0.12  -2.28

Net Earnings per share discontinued operations - diluted  n.a.  n.a.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements 2006 
of the Mikron Group

Consolidated Balance Sheet

CHF 1‘000 Note 31.12.2006  31.12.2005 

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 29‘559   56‘383

Current financial assets 6.9 15‘000   15‘000

Accounts receivable 6.2 29‘679   30‘911

Inventories 6.3 40‘283   40‘237

Net assets from customer projects 6.4 36‘818   16‘293

Other receivables and prepaid expenses 6.5 7‘140   6‘654

Total current assets  158‘479 57%  165‘478 57%

Non-current assets     

Tangible assets 6.6 67‘381   73‘016

Intangible assets 6.7 10‘561   6‘471

Investment properties 6.8 30‘654   29‘796

Employee benefits 6.1 896   867

Deferred tax assets 6.11 8‘368   7‘435

Total non-current assets  117‘860 43%  117‘585 40%

Assets held for sale 7.1 0 0%  7‘596 3%

Total assets  276‘339 100%  290‘659 100%

Current liabilities     

Short-term financial liabilities 6.12 1‘892   2‘335

Accounts payable  23‘640   21‘530

Net liabilities from customer projects 6.4 12‘687   21‘521

Short-term provisions 6.13 4‘848   7‘052

Current income tax payables  46   53

Other current liabilities and accrued expenses 6.14 20‘816   21‘773

Total current liabilities  63‘929 24%  74‘264 26%

Long-term liabilities     

Long-term financial liabilities 6.12 1‘885   4‘291

Long-term provisions 6.13 2‘736   4‘660

Deferred tax liabilities 6.11 7‘772   5‘976

Total long-term liabilities  12‘393 4%  14‘927 5%

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 7.1 0 0%  6‘627 2%

Total liabilities  76‘322 28%  95‘818 33%

Shareholders‘ equity     

Share capital 6.15 1‘671   1‘656

Treasury shares  0   -35

Reserves  198‘346   193‘220

Total shareholders‘ equity  200‘017 72%  194‘841 67%

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  276‘339 100%  290‘659 100%

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ equity

                                       Reserves        Total
  Share Treasury Capital Retained  Other Shareholders’
CHF 1‘000 Note Capital Shares Reserves Earnings  Reserves Equity

Balance 31.12.2004  1‘656 -201 108‘670 92‘228 6‘915 209‘268

Exchange differences on intra-Group

loans with equity character 6.15     1‘603 1‘603

Translation adjustments on liquidated companies 6.15     9‘834 9‘834

Change in revaluation, net of deferred taxes 6.15    5‘498 -5‘498 0

Transfer of depreciation on revaluated tangible assets 6.15    110 -110 0

Translation adjustments      -1‘472 -1‘472

Directly in equity recognised net earnings      5‘608 4‘357 9‘965

Net earnings 2005     -24‘558  -24‘558

Total recognised profit 2005     -18‘950 4‘357 -14‘593

Capital increase       0

Change in treasury shares   166    166

Balance 31.12.2005  1‘656 -35 108‘670 73‘278 11‘272 194‘841

Translation adjustments on liquidated companies 6.15     119 119

Change in revaluation, net of deferred taxes 6.15    268 502 770

Transfer of depreciation on revaluated tangible assets 6.15    94 -94 0

Translation adjustments      254 254

Directly in equity recognised net earnings      362 781 1‘143

Net earnings 2006     3‘983  3‘983

Total recognised profit 2006     4‘345 781 5‘126

Capital increase  15     15

Treasury shares to employees and Board of Directors 7.6  -323    -323

Change in treasury shares   358    358

Balance 31.12.2006  1‘671 0 108‘670 77‘623 12‘053 200‘017

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements 2006 
of the Mikron Group
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CHF 1‘000    Note 2006 2005

Cash flow from operating activities

Net Earnings     5‘983 13‘162

Income taxes     773 -3‘917

Depreciation    6.6, 6.7 8‘901 9‘893

Changes of provisions     -3‘771 -1‘228

Other non-cash items     -3‘161 -3‘280

Paid income taxes - net     59 -46

Changes in net working capital   6.16 -24‘125 -2‘184

Cash flow from operating activities    -15‘341 12‘400

Cash flow from investing activities 

Investments in tangible assets   6.6 -4‘397 -8‘322

Divestments of tangible assets   6.6 724 3‘280

Investments in intangible assets   6.7 -5‘175 -4‘094

Investments in investment property   6.8 -127 0

Investments in financial assets   6.9, 6.10 -29 -14‘808

Proceeds from sale of group companies (net of cash disposed)  7.1 0 25‘464

Cash flow from investing activities    -9‘004 1‘520

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of share capital   6.15 15 0

Purchase and sale of treasury shares   6.15 35 103

Change in other financial liabilities    592 100

Repayment of finance lease liabilities    -1‘859 -1‘875

Interest received     807 2‘324

Interest paid     -302 -242

Cash flow from financing activities    -712 410

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    -147 -8

Net cash flow from continued operations    -25‘204 14‘322

Net cash flow from discontinued operations   7.1 -1‘620 -1‘966

Increase / decrease of cash and cash equivalents    -26‘824 12‘356

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    56‘383 44‘027

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    29‘559 56‘383

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

Consolidated Financial Statements 2006 
of the Mikron Group
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 2006 of the Mikron Group

44

Impact of new or amended IFRS and interpretation
      Application
       Effective date Mikron Impact

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Capital Disclosures January 1, 2007 2007 **

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee benefits: Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures January 1, 2006 2006 **

Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments - Recognition and measurement: Cash Flow Hedge 

 Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions, The Fair Value Option, 

 Financial Guarantee Contracts January 1, 2006 2006 *

Amendments to IAS 21 The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates: Sister-to-Sister loans January 1, 2006 2006 *

IFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources January 1, 2006 2006 *

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments - Disclosure January 1, 2007 2007 **

IFRS 8 Operating Segments January 1, 2009 2009 ***

IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement constitutes a lease January 1, 2006 2006 *

IFRIC 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market - waste electrical and 

 electronic equipment January 1, 2006 2006 *

IFRIC 7 Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29 - Financial reporting in 

 hyperinflationary economies January 1, 2007 2007 *

IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2: Share-based Payment May 1, 2006 2006 *

IFRIC 9 Reasessment of embedded derivatives June 1, 2006 2006 *

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and impairment November 1, 2006 2006 *

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury share transactions March 1, 2007 2007 ***

IFRIC 12 Service Concessions January 1, 2008 2008 *

* No impact expected on consolidated financial statements   

** Additional disclosures in consolidated financial statements expected   

*** The effects on consolidated financial statements cannot yet be predicted with sufficient certainty

1.1 Business operations Mikron Holding AG and its subsid-

iaries (together, the Mikron Group) is a leading provider of 

solutions in machining and assembly systems. Headquar-

tered in Switzerland, Mikron operates production facilities 

and sales offices abroad, employing a total workforce of 

around 1000.

Mikron Holding AG is a limited company under Swiss 

law, domiciled in Biel. The shares are listed on SWX Swiss 

Exchange.

1.2 Basis of preparation The consolidated financial state-

ments of the Mikron Group have been prepared in accor-

dance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB) and the provisions as laid down in the Listing 

Rules of the SWX Swiss Exchange. The consolidated finan-

cial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention, except for financial instruments, financial assets 

classified as available-for-sale or fair value through profit or 

loss, and property, which are stated at fair value. In applying 

the entity’s accounting policies, which are described in note 

2, management has made assumptions and estimates. For 

more details refer to note 4. 

1.3 Application of new accounting rules The following 

new and amended standards and interpretations have been 

issued by the IASB and the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) respectively. Their impact 

has been taken into account, to the extent applicable for the 

2006 financial year. The standards and interpretations which 

do not enter into force until a later date have not been 

applied in the present financial statements. Their impact on 

the annual financial statements of the Mikron Group, as 

disclosed in the table below, is based on initial estimates by 

the Group Management.

1. General Information
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1.4 Events after the balance sheet date The Board of 

Directors approved the consolidated financial statements 

at its meeting of February 23, 2007. The approval of the 

consolidated financial statements by the Annual General 

Meeting is scheduled for April 30, 2007. 

There have been no events between December 31, 2006 

and February 23, 2007 that have caused an adjustment of 

the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets and liabilities or 

that the Group is required to disclose here.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Consolidation

2.1.1 Scope and method of consolidation The consol-

idated financial statements include Mikron Holding AG, 

Biel and all Swiss and foreign subsidiaries which the parent 

company, directly or indirectly, controls either by holding 

more than 50% of the voting rights or by some other form 

of control. These entities are fully consolidated, whereby 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses are incorporated in 

the consolidated accounts. Intercompany balances and trans-

actions, as well as gains arising from such transactions, are 

eliminated in full. Minority interests in equity and net earn-

ings of consolidated companies are presented separately, 

but as a component of consolidated equity and consol-

idated net earnings respectively. Capital consolidation is 

based on the purchase method applied on the annual finan-

cial statements of all consolidated entities, prepared as at 

December 31, determined according to uniform accounting 

policies. Companies acquired are consolidated from the 

date on which control is obtained, while companies sold are 

excluded from the scope of consolidation as of the date on 

which control is given up.

Companies in which the parent company has an interest of 

at least 20% but less than 50%, or over which it otherwise 

has significant influence, are included in the consolidated 

financial statements using the equity method of accounting 

and presented as investments in associates. Investments with 

a voting power of less than 20% are stated at fair value and 

presented under other financial assets. The Mikron Group 

does not currently have any shareholdings with a voting 

power of less than 50%.

The list of Group companies can be found on page 82.

2.1.2 Acquistions and goodwill Acquisitions of subsid-

iaries are accounted for using the purchase method. The 

costs of a business combination are the fair values, at 

the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred 

or assumed and equity instruments issued, in exchange 

for control of the acquiree. Additionally, any third-party 

costs directly attributable to the business combination are 

included. 

Any amount in excess of these costs of acquisition is 

recorded as goodwill. After initial recognition, the Group 

measures goodwill at cost less any accumulated impairment 

losses. If the calculations result in an amount which is less 

than the fair value (“negative goodwill“), then the Mikron 

Group reviews those calculations. Any negative goodwill 

remaining following the revised assessment is recognized as 

income immediately. 

2.1.3 Discontinued operations Operations and non-

current assets that have been disposed of or which are 

expected to be sold within one year are reported as discon-

tinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations“. Assets 

and liabilities from operations held for sale are disclosed in 

the balance sheet at the lower of carrying amount and fair 

value less costs to sell.

The prior-year figures in the income statement and the cash 

flow statement, but not in the balance sheet, are restated 

and can thus be compared.
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2.1.4 Changes in the scope of consolidation 2006 No 

businesses were acquired in the year under review.

Seropa Technology was deconsolidated as at June 30, 2006 

since Mikron has relinquished control of this company due to 

the insolvency proceedings that are now in progress. Seropa 

France, the sole shareholder in Seropa Technology, was like-

wise removed from the scope of consolidation as of the 

same date. 

2.2 Segment reporting Segment information is presented 

in two formats: Primarily by business segment and as 

secondary segments by geographical region. A business 

segment comprises net assets and transactions involved in 

providing products or services which are subject to risks and 

returns that are clearly different from those of other busi-

ness segments. A geographical segment covers a particular 

economic environment that is subject to risks and returns 

different from other geographical regions.

2.3 Foreign currency translation All Group companies 

have defined the local currency as their functional currency. 

The consolidated financial statements are reported in Swiss 

francs, which is the Group’s presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the func-

tional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the 

date of transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses 

resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 

the translation at year-end exchange rates are recognized in 

the income statement.

Assets and liabilities are translated into Swiss francs at 

the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date, 

the income statement and all cash-flows are translated at 

average rates for each period. Differences are recognized in 

equity. Exchange differences on long-term intra-Group loans 

with equity character are likewise taken directly to Group 

equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange 

differences are recognized in the income statement as part 

of the gain or loss on sale.

The most significant exchange rates for the Group in the 

year under review in Swiss francs were:

2.4 Disclosure of related party transactions Relation-

ships with related companies and persons can have an effect 

on the Group‘s financial position and earnings situation. 

Related parties are defined as companies or persons that exer-

cise significant influence over Mikron or that are controlled by 

the Group as well as the Mikron pension fund. All significant 

transactions and outstanding balances are disclosed in note 

7.5 to the consolidated financial statements.

2.5 Assets

2.5.1 Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equiv-

alents comprises cash in hand, current bank and post 

accounts, as well as deposits held at call with a bank or 

other financial institution with maturities of 90 days or less, 

and is shown at nominal value. Bank overdrafts on current 

accounts are disclosed under current financial liabilities.

  Closing rate  Closing rate  Average rate  Average rate
Currency Unit 31.12.2006 31.12.2005 2006 2005

EUR 1 1.607500 1.557000 1.577200 1.548692

USD 1 1.220000 1.310900 1.253833 1.251817

GBP 1 2.398200 2.265400 2.313925 2.265875

JPY 1 0.010268 0.011176 0.010771 0.011314
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2.5.2 Financial assets and derivative financial instru-

ments Mikron generally distinguishes the following catego-

ries:

 Assets and liabilities classified as “fair value through profit 

or loss“:

 These are financial assets acquired for the purpose of  

active management and derivative financial instruments. 

They are reported as current financial assets or liabilities at 

fair value and any changes in fair value are presented in 

the financial result.

 “Held-to-maturity investments“:

 Investments are only recorded in this category if the indi-

vidual entities have the intention and ability to hold them 

to maturity. They are measured at amortized cost using 

the effective interest method and are carried on the 

balance sheet as non-current financial assets.

 “Loans and receivables“:

 This category mainly comprises accounts receivable and 

payable as well as loans granted to or received from third 

parties. They are carried at nominal value, if repayment is 

planned within one year. Otherwise, loans and receivables 

are measured applying the same method as for held-to-

maturity investments.

 All other financial assets and liabilities are classified as 

“available-for-sale“:

 Financial instruments in this category are reported as 

financial assets or liabilities at fair value with changes in 

value recognized in equity, taking into account any related 

deferred taxes. These are only removed from equity and 

recognized in profit or loss when the financial instrument 

is sold or impaired.

All purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities are 

recognized on the date of the trade. Upon initial recognition, 

financial instruments are measured at cost of purchase plus, 

in the case of a financial instrument not measured at fair 

value, related transaction costs.

Financial instruments which are used to hedge current and 

future transactions are carried on the balance sheet at fair 

value and the changes in value taken through profit or loss. 

The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

2.5.3 Receivables Receivables are carried at nominal value, 

if repayment is planned within one year. Otherwise they 

are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method. An allowance for bad debt risks is established 

for cases where the Group faces an objective risk of not 

collecting the outstanding amount.

2.5.4 Inventory Raw, auxiliary and operating materials and 

other supplies, as well as goods purchased, are carried at 

weighted average cost, finished products at the lower of 

costs of conversion (standard costs), including directly attrib-

utable production costs, or fair value less costs to sell. In 

addition, downpayments from suppliers are disclosed as a 

deduction within inventory. Provisions are made for slow 

moving items. Obsolete items are written off. 

2.5.5 Construction contracts Construction contracts for 

machining and assembly systems are accounted for by the 

“percentage of completion“ method. The respective stage 

of completion is determined by individually measuring 

the work performed to date, based on the costs to date 

compared to the total estimated costs. Sales revenues are 

recognized in the income statement as net sales by reference 

to the stage of completion. On the balance sheet, projects 

in progress – offset by prepayments and progress payments 

from customers – are recognized as net assets or net liabili-

ties from construction contracts. 

All contracts for which no specific customer contract yet 

exists are capitalized as work in progress until delivery and 

disclosed as inventory. They are measured at the lower of 

costs of conversion (standard costs), including directly attrib-

utable production costs, or fair value less costs to sell. Net 

sales and profit are recognized at the time of delivery.

Immediate provision is made through profit or loss for 

present or foreseeable losses on construction contracts.



48

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 2006 of the Mikron Group

48

2.5.6 Tangible assets Property consists of production and 

office buildings and is measured at fair value. Machinery and 

equipment are measured at amortized cost and depreciated 

over their estimated useful lives. Internal value-added work is 

included in the costs. 

The estimated useful life for the key groups of tangible 

assets is as follows. The straight-line method of depreciation 

is used:

The fair value of the property is reviewed at regular intervals 

and adjusted where necessary. The difference between the 

cost and fair value of properties is recognized in the revalu-

ation reserve in equity, net of deferred taxes. In the event of 

a devaluation of property, changes that are in excess of the 

revaluation reserve are charged to the income statement. 

Upon sale of a property that has increased in value, the 

revaluation reserve is reclassified to retained earnings.

2.5.7 Intangible assets Goodwill, patents, software and 

development costs, in particular, qualify as intangible assets. 

Development costs are capitalized only when the project is 

expected to be economically and technically successful and 

the expenditures can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are recognized at cost and, with the excep-

tion of goodwill, depreciated on a straight-line basis over 

their expected useful lives. Goodwill is reviewed at least once 

a year, all other intangible assets only when indications exist 

that an asset may be impaired. An impairment loss is recog-

nized immediately in profit or loss.

The estimated useful life for the key groups of intangible 

assets is as follows. The straight-line method of depreciation 

is used:

 

2.5.8 Investment property Property held as a financial 

investment covers only those production and office buildings 

which the Mikron Group no longer depends on for its own 

use and which are rented out to third parties. It is measured 

at fair value. The fair value of the property is reviewed annu-

ally as per the balance sheet date and adjusted where neces-

sary. Revaluations are recognized in the income statement.

2.5.9 Impairment of non-current assets Non-current 

assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying amount 

may not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested for impairment 

annually. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount 

by which an asset‘s carrying value exceeds its recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset‘s 

net selling price and its value in use. The value in use is the 

net present value of estimated future cash flows that can be 

expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset and 

from its disposal at the end of its useful life. 

2.5.10 Lease contracts Agreements, which transfer 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 

lessee, are disclosed as “finance leases“. Assets held under 

finance leases are recognized as tangible assets at the lower 

of fair value at the time of acquisition and the net present 

value of the future non-cancelable lease payments. The 

corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance 

sheet as a financial liability. Lease payments are apportioned 

between financial expenses and reduction of the lease obli-

gation. Assets under finance leases are amortized over their 

estimated useful lives or the shorter duration of the lease 

agreement.

 Years

Capitalized development costs max. 5

Patents and licences max. 5

Software 3 - 5

Other 3 - 5

 Years

Property 20 - 40

Leasehold improvements over the duration of the lease agreement

Equipment and installations 12 - 25

Furniture 8 - 12

Machinery 5 - 10

Other 3 - 5
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Profits and losses from sale and leaseback transactions 

resulting in a finance lease are deferred and amortized over 

the lease term as other operating income or other operating 

expense respectively.

Operating lease payments are treated as operating expenses 

and charged to the income statement as incurred.

2.6 Liabilities

2.6.1 Financial liabilities Short-term and long-term bank 

borrowings are recognized at fair value and classified by 

maturity. They are subsequently measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest method. All other financial liabil-

ities and derivatives are recognized according to the princi-

ples stated under “Financial assets and derivative financial 

instruments“.

2.6.2 Provisions Provisions are recognized only if the 

company has a present obligation to a third party as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 

will be required to settle the obligation, and the obligation 

can be sufficiently reliably estimated. No provision is made 

for future operating losses. Provisions for which an outflow 

of resources is not expected within one year, are discounted 

as at the balance sheet date.

Costs relating to restructuring are booked as an expense if 

management has adopted a restructuring plan, it is prob-

able that an obligation has arisen therefrom and the amount 

of that obligation can be sufficiently reliably estimated. The 

restructuring must either be communicated in sufficient 

detail or agreed with the employees affected before being 

recognized as an expense in the income statement.

2.6.3 Deferred taxes Deferred income taxes are recognized 

on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities in the financial statements and the corre-

sponding tax bases and are accounted for using the liability 

method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for 

all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 

only recognized to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which deductible 

temporary differences can be utilized. No deferred tax items 

are recognized in respect of temporary differences on invest-

ments in subsidiaries, since the Group is able to control the 

reversal of such temporary differences and it is probable that 

they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the rate 

that is expected to apply in the period when the asset is real-

ized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 

laws) that have been enacted or announced at the balance 

sheet date. Changes in deferred taxes are recorded in profit 

or loss, except where they relate to items that are charged or 

credited directly to equity.

2.6.4 Employee benefits There are a number of employee 

benefit plans in existence within the Group, each of which is 

aligned with local conditions in the country in question. They 

are funded either by means of contributions to legally inde-

pendent employee benefit schemes (foundations, insurance) 

or by recognition as provision for employee benefit plans in 

the balance sheet.

For defined contribution plans, the net periodic cost to be 

recognized in the income statement equals the contributions 

made by the employer. 

In the case of defined benefit plans, the net periodic cost is 

determined at each balance sheet date by means of actuarial 

valuations by independent experts using the “Projected Unit 

Credit“ method. The annual pension expense is recognized 

in the income statement. Actuarial gains and losses arising 

from the periodic revaluations are recognized in the income 

statement on a straight-line basis over the average remaining 

service period, if they exceed 10% of the greater of the plan 

assets or the benefit obligation. A pension asset will only be 

capitalized if such entitlements are available without restric-

tion in the form of future contribution repayments or reduc-

tions (e.g. in the form of employer contribution reserves). 
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2.7 Income Statement

2.7.1 Revenue recognition Net sales comprise the sales of 

products as well as the rendering of services. Sales are recog-

nized if it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 

the Group and the amount can be estimated reliably. Sales 

revenue is recognized upon transfer of the risks and rewards 

of ownership of the goods to the client.

Pro rata net sales and profits on long-term construction 

contracts are recognized in accordance with note 2.5.5 on 

the basis of the percentage of completion and of the esti-

mated total profit for the project.

2.8 Share based payments A share purchase plan is in 

place for a select number of Mikron Group employees, enti-

tling them to subscribe Mikron shares at preferential condi-

tions. Any shares which legally pass to the buyer may not 

be sold during a lock-up period of three years. The differ-

ence between fair value and purchase price is recognized as 

personnel expense at the date of allocation.

The members of the Board of Directors of Mikron Holding 

AG receive part of their compensation in shares. Any shares 

legally transferred may not be sold during a four-year 

period. The fair value of the shares granted is recognized as 

personnel expense at the date of allocation.

 

3. Financial Risk Management

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks, primarily 

foreign exchange risks, credit risks and interest-rate risks. 

Group guidelines regulate the management of liquidity 

as well as the procurement of short-term and long-term 

financing. The procurement and investment of funds is 

carried out centrally.

3.1 Foreign exchange risks The Group is active globally 

and therefore exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates, 

which affect the value of Group assets and income reported 

in Swiss francs. Corporate guidelines have been issued 

concerning the management of transaction risks at both 

company and Group level. The Group makes every effort 

to offset the impact of exchange rate movements as far 

as possible by utilizing natural hedges. At Group level, net 

positions in the most important currencies are additionally 

hedged. Foreign exchange forward contracts are the main 

instrument used to hedge foreign exchange risks. Gains and 

losses on foreign exchange hedges on assets and liabilities 

carried at fair value are booked through profit or loss. The 

Group does not apply hedge accounting.

3.2 Credit default risks Credit risks arise from the possi-

bility that the counterparty to a transaction may not be able 

or willing to discharge their obligations, thereby causing the 

Group to suffer a financial loss. Counterparty risks are mini-

mized by only concluding contracts with reputable business 

partners and banks wherever possible and are constantly 

monitored. Accounts receivable are monitored on an 

ongoing basis via Group management reporting procedures. 

The necessary allowances are made locally.

3.3 Interest rate risks Interest rate risks result from changes 

in interest rates, which could have a negative impact on the 

Group‘s financial position and earnings situation. Interest 

rate fluctuations lead to changes in the interest income and 

expense on interest-bearing assets and liabilities. In addition, 

they can also affect the market value of financial assets and 

liabilities. Interest rate exposure is basically limited, owing 

to the low level of external financing and the conservative 

investment policy. The interest rate exposure of long-term 

liabilities is managed centrally. As at December 31, 2005 and 

2006 respectively, no derivative financial instruments were 

being held to hedge any interest rate risks.

3.4 Liquidity Through rolling cash forecasts at Group level it 

is ensured that no unexpected cash drains are generated.
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In applying the entity’s accounting policies, which are 

described in note 2, management has made assumptions 

and estimates. The key assumptions concerning valuation of 

assets and liabilities are based on recoverability and proba-

bility of occurrence. 

If the actual results deviate from the assumptions and esti-

mates made by management, this would have a material 

impact on the annual financial statements, particularly in the 

areas described below. 

4.1 Construction contracts The valuation and reporting 

of construction contracts for machining and assembly 

systems are material to the Group. Individual projects are 

accounted for by the percentage-of-completion method. The 

main assumptions are disclosed in note 6.4, along with the 

carrying value of the balance sheet assets and liabilities.

4.2 Employee benefits There are a number of employee 

benefit plans and pension funds in existence within the 

Mikron Group. The majority of staff members are covered 

by the employee benefit plans of the Mikron pension 

fund in Switzerland. The significant assumptions and the 

carrying value on the balance sheet of the pension assets are 

disclosed in note 6.10.

4. Significant Assumptions used in presenting the 

Consolidated Financial Statements
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5. Details to the Consolidated Income Statement 

5.1 Net sales

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Net sales from products & services    62‘921 54‘856

Net sales from construction contracts    181‘739 163‘536

Total net sales     244‘660 218‘392

5.2 Material costs and subcontractors

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Raw, auxiliary and operating materials    -92‘261 -76‘286

Subcontractors     -14‘740 -16‘653

Total material costs and subcontractors    -107‘001 -92‘939

There has been a substantial rise in material costs and subcontractors owing to higher net sales and the increased number of 

subsystems purchased from third parties. Raw, auxiliary and operating materials include write-downs on obsolete and slow-

moving inventory. As a result of periodic reviews of inventory, the amount of CHF 1.1 million (prior year: CHF 1.0 million) was 

expensed. In addition, inventory totalling some CHF 2.1 million was written off in connection with the cancellations referred 

to in note 5.1.

5.3 Personnel expenses

CHF 1‘000    Note 2006 2005

Salaries and wages     -87‘792 -82‘182

Social charges     -7‘925 -7‘782

Pension expenses (defined contribution plan)    -448 -422

Pension expenses (defined benefit plan)   6.10 -3‘756 -3‘529

Total personnel expenses    -99‘921 -93‘915

Around 52% (prior year: 58%) of net sales were generated in the automotive segment, the most important market segment 

for the Mikron Group. In the year under review, the medical/personal care market segment contributed with approximately 

24% (prior year: 17%) notably to the increase in net sales. The information on business segments and geographical regions 

is disclosed in note 8. Related to a product line of the Machining Technology division, where some orders for a small number 

of individual customer projects have been cancelled in the fourth quarter, write-offs of approximately CHF 2.3 million were 

recognized.

To satisfy the strong demand for products and services, headcount was increased by 6% in average. In some cases tempo-

rary employees were hired to cope with bottlenecks in production, which likewise contributed to the significant increase in 

personnel expenses.

5.4 Other operating income

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Other income     7‘852 8‘177

Gain on sale of tangible assets    141 58

Total other operating income    7‘993 8‘235
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The investment property (see note 6.8) generated rental revenue of CHF 2.7 million and services related to this property of 

CHF 1.4 million. The updated fair value appraisal resulted in a revaluation of CHF 0.7 million. In addition, other operating 

income includes information technology services rendered to third parties and other operating revenues.

5.5 Other operating expenses

CHF 1‘000    Note 2006 2005

Other expenses     -25‘908 -27‘793

Expenses for lease commitments not recognized (operating lease)  7.4 -4‘443 -5‘672

Loss on sale of tangible assets    0 -3

Capital and other taxes (excl. Income taxes)    -694 -1‘002

Total other operating expenses    -31‘045 -34‘470

Other operating expenses mainly comprise of expenditure for office/working space and infrastructure of CHF 5.9 million, 

marketing and sales expenses totaling CHF 6.6 million, personnel related expenses of CHF 3.8 million and research and devel-

opment costs amounting to CHF 2.4 million. The reversal of unused provisions has affected the operating expenses positively. 

The expense for off-balance sheet lease obligations principally includes rents for owner-used property and other operating 

leases.

5.6 Financial income and expenses

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Financial income     4‘901 11‘303

Financial expenses     -7‘117 -9‘669

Total financial result - net    -2‘216 1‘634

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Interest income     924 2‘338

Interest expenses     -595 -314

Total interest result - net     329 2‘024

Exchange gains     3‘953 8‘947

Exchange losses     -5‘826 -8‘673

Other financial income     24 18

Other financial expenses     -696 -682

Total other financial result - net    -2‘545 -390

Total financial result - net    -2‘216 1‘634

The financial result is composed of the following items:

Net interest result consists of interest income on short-term financial assets, the interest expense in connection with finance 

lease obligations and the impact of the discounting of long-term provisions. The prior-year figure includes interest income 

on loans to the Plastics Technology division, which was subsequently sold off. Major exchange rate fluctuations led to net 

currency losses of CHF 1.9 million (prior year: currency gain of CHF 0.3 million). The costs for bank guarantees to cover 

customer advance and progress payments are disclosed under other financial expenses.
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5.7 Income taxes

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Current income tax     -119 -400

Deferred income tax     -654 4‘317

Total income taxes     -773 3‘917

The applicable tax rate of the Group is 20.0% (prior year: 19.8%) and corresponds to the weighted average income tax rates 

of the individual Group companies in each jurisdiction. The tax rate can vary greatly from year to year depending on the 

contribution to profit delivered by the subsidiaries as well as the impact of tax loss carryforwards.

The following statement shows the reconciliation of the income taxes calculated using the local tax rate and actual income 

taxes.

CHF 1‘000    Note 2006 2005

Net earnings before taxes     6‘756 9‘245

Income tax at local tax rates     -1‘351 -1‘825

Impact of non-capitalized loss carry forwards    250 789

Capitalization of deferred tax assets   6.11 1‘373 4‘970

Utilization and expiration of deferred tax assets   6.11 -440 1‘418

Other taxable effects     -605 -1‘435

Total income taxes     -773 3‘917

6. Details of the Consolidated Balance Sheet

6.1 Cash and cash equivalents

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Bank and post accounts     4‘935 18‘074

Deposits held at call     24‘624 38‘309

Total cash and cash equivalents    29‘559 56‘383

6.2 Accounts receivable

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Accounts receivable     30‘024 31‘595

Notes receivable     121 146

Allowance for doubtful accounts    -466 -830

Total accounts receivable    29‘679 30‘911

thereof contractual retentions     0 0

The allowance for doubtful accounts is established to account for the credit risks related to accounts receivable. In the year 

under review write-offs on accounts receivable of CHF 0.2 million (prior year: CHF 0.1 million) were recognized as other oper-

ating expenses. There is only a limited risk from significant concentration of receivables, as the Group has a large number of 

single debtors. Open balances of the three largest creditors amount to CHF 4.8 million (prior year: CHF 8.8 million) and are 

predominantly not yet due.
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6.3 Inventories

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Raw, auxiliary and operating materials    8‘640 7‘891

Work in progress     9‘919 12‘143

Finished and trading goods     20‘716 19‘623

Prepayments to suppliers     2‘405 1‘931

Prepayments from customers     -1‘397 -1‘351

Total inventories     40‘283 40‘237

Book value of inventories carried at net realizable value    0 0

Fire insurance value inventories and construction contracts    130‘381 117‘372

Inventories comprise particularly of standard and special tools, subsystems purchased but not yet recognized on a specific 

customer contract and spare-parts. The small increase in the year under review is reported in the income statement as change  

of work in process/finished goods.

6.4 Construction contracts

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Projects in progress - costs incurred    108‘531 46‘297

Recognised profits less recognised losses    22‘625 13‘525

Prepayments from customers     -94‘338 -43‘529

Total net assets from customer projects    36‘818 16‘293

Projects in progress - costs incurred    -25‘178 -60‘023

Recognised profits less recognised losses    -4‘443 -4‘688

Prepayments from customers     42‘308 86‘232

Total net liabilities from customer projects    12‘687 21‘521

6.5 Other receivables and prepaid expenses

CHF 1‘000    Note 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Other receivables     4‘383 4‘313

Derivative financial instruments   7.2 0 0

Prepaid expenses     2‘757 2‘341

Total other receivables and prepaid expenses    7‘140 6‘654

Construction contracts for machining and assembly systems are accounted for using the stage of completion. The stage 

of completion, determined by individually measuring the costs incurred to date compared to the total estimated costs, at 

December 31, 2006 is approximately 73% (prior year: 60%). As at December 31, 2006, the Mikron Group had 143 pro-

jects in progress (prior year: 124 projects) with an average volume of CHF 1.6 million (prior year: CHF 1.7 million). The mate-

rial valuation risks lie in estimating the overall costs as well as the contractual obligation toward the customer to complete the 

project by a certain deadline at a fixed price.
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6.6 Tangible assets

    Equipments + Down
CHF 1‘000  Property Machinery Installations payments Others Total

At cost

Balance at 01.01.2005  168‘305 130‘397 42‘807 571 2‘168 344‘248

Changes in the scope of consolidation  -27‘550 -63‘994 -14‘488 -485 -916 -107‘433

Additions 2005  2‘057 6‘665 2‘657 -57 409 11‘731

Transfers  0 -1‘119 1‘119 0 0 0

Transfer to investment property  -55‘970 0 0 0 0 -55‘970

Disposals 2005  -77 -4‘255 -144 0 0 -4‘476

Revaluations  0 0 0 0 0 0

Translation adjustments  346 741 619 0 50 1‘756

Balance at 31.12.2005  87‘111 68‘435 32‘570 29 1‘711 189‘856

Changes in the scope of consolidation  0 0 0 0 0 0

Additions 2006  208 1‘760 2‘216 72 473 4‘729

Transfers  0 43 0 -43 0 0

Disposals 2006  0 -9‘747 -1‘600 0 -311 -11‘658

Revaluations  1‘028 0 0 0 0 1‘028

Translation adjustments  -203 -48 -209 0 12 -448

Balance at 31.12.2006  88‘144 60‘443 32‘977 58 1‘885 183‘507

Accumulated depreciation       

Balance at 01.01.2005  -75‘812 -84‘789 -34‘125 -306 -1‘322 -196‘354

Changes in the scope of consolidation  9‘013 40‘968 11‘408 306 709 62‘404

Depreciation 2005  -2‘442 -4‘312 -1‘918 0 -101 -8‘773

Impairments  0 0 0 0 0 0

Transfers  0 1‘074 -1‘074 0 0 0

Transfer to investment property  26‘173 0 0 0 0 26‘173

Disposals 2005  0 1‘115 135 0 0 1‘250

Revaluations  0 0 0 0 0 0

Translation adjustments  -262 -645 -586 0 -47 -1‘540

Balance at 31.12.2005  -43‘330 -46‘589 -26‘160 0 -761 -116‘840

Changes in the scope of consolidation  0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation 2006  -1‘371 -4‘058 -2‘112 0 -115 -7‘656

Impairments   0 0 0 0 0 0

Transfers  0 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals 2006  0 6‘095 1‘585 0 311 7‘991

Revaluations  -138 0 0 0 0 -138

Translation adjustments  140 167 210 0 0 517

Balance at 31.12.2006  -44‘699 -44‘385 -26‘477 0 -565 -116‘126

Net book value       

Balance at 31.12.2005  43‘781 21‘846 6‘410 29 950 73‘016

Balance at 31.12.2006  43‘445 16‘058 6‘500 58 1‘320 67‘381

thereof finance leases       

Balance at 31.12.2005  0 8‘909 0 0 0 8‘909

Balance at 31.12.2006  0 4‘010 0 0 301 4‘311

Historical cost less accumulated depreciation (without revaluation):

   Equipments + Down
CHF 1‘000  Property Machinery Installations payments Others Total

Balance at 31.12.2005  29‘396 21‘846 6‘410 29 950 58‘631

Balance at 31.12.2006  28‘195 16‘058 6‘500 58 1‘320 52‘131
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Property is measured at fair value. More than 95% of all properties are located in Switzerland. The last fair value apraisals 

for these properties by independent experts were made in 2004, using the discounted cash flow method for their valua-

tions. Cyclical investments have been considered in determining the discount rate. A discount rate of 7.0% was applied. The 

fair value of the properties in the USA was determined in the year under review by an independent expert, also using the 

discounted cash flow method, and led to a revaluation of CHF 1.0 million recognized directly in equity. Cyclical investments 

were factored into the discount rate. A discount rate of 8.5% was applied.

Other Information

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Fire insurance values
Property     64‘386 64‘435
Machinery, Equipments + Installations    77‘199 77‘904
Total fire insurance values    141‘585 142‘339

6.7 Intangible assets
     Capitalized
    Patents + Development
CHF 1‘000   Goodwill Licenses costs Others Total

At cost      
Balance at 01.01.2005   0 305 19‘616 6‘430 26‘351
Changes in the scope of consolidation   0 0 0 -4‘348 -4‘348
Additions 2005   0 0 4‘071 23 4‘094
Other movements   0 0 -1‘700 0 -1‘700
Disposals 2005   0 0 0 0 0
Translation adjustments   0 0 0 197 197
Balance at 31.12.2005   0 305 21‘987 2‘302 24‘594
Changes in the scope of consolidation   0 0 0 0 0
Additions 2006   0 0 5‘113 62 5‘175
Other movements   0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 2006   0 0 0 0 0
Translation adjustments   0 0 21 -81 -60
Balance at 31.12.2006   0 305 27‘121 2‘283 29‘709

Accumulated depreciation      
Balance at 01.01.2005   0 -305 -16‘174 -6‘123 -22‘602
Changes in the scope of consolidation   0 0 0 4‘095 4‘095
Amortization 2005   0 0 -1‘080 -40 -1‘120
Impairments   0 0 0 0 0
Other movements   0 0 1‘700 0 1‘700
Disposals 2005   0 0 0 0 0
Translation adjustments   0 0 0 -196 -196
Balance at 31.12.2005   0 -305 -15‘554 -2‘264 -18‘123
Changes in the scope of consolidation   0 0 0 0 0
Amortization 2006   0 0 -1‘086 -21 -1‘107
Impairments   0 0 0 0 0
Other movements   0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 2006   0 0 0 0 0
Translation adjustments   0 0 0 82 82
Balance at 31.12.2006   0 -305 -16‘640 -2‘203 -19‘148

Net book value      
Balance at 31.12.2005   0 0 6‘433 38 6‘471
Balance at 31.12.2006   0 0 10‘481 80 10‘561

Capitalized development costs contain costs for internally generated intangible assets, whereas other intangible assets were 
acquired from third parties.



58

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 2006 of the Mikron Group

58

Research and development

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Capitalized own production     -5‘113 -4‘071

Research and development expensed in the income statement   -9‘225 -10‘639

Total research and development    -14‘338 -14‘710

Mikron develops customized solutions in machining and assembly systems for highly innovative new products. Accordingly, 

engineering is part of nearly all customer projects. Existing basic machines are further developed on an ongoing basis and 

new concepts introduced. In the year under review, the Machining Technology division worked on the industrialization of the 

new "Mikron NRG-50" machining system and started the fundamental redesign of two product lines. The Assembly Tech-

nology division was occupied with the industrialization of the Assembly Center and launched a major software project.

The increase in capitalized development costs relates to the basic machine and software developments already referred to and 

is made up of almost 74% (prior year: 59%) own work capitalized. Smaller development projects, early-stage development 

expenditure and product maintenance for existing tools and machines are charged directly to the income statement.

Mikron Group is the owner of a property in Switzerland (land and building), fully leased to third parties. Rental income 

amounted to CHF 2.7 million (prior year: CHF 2.7 million) and direct operating expenses arising from the investment property 

to CHF 0.2 million (prior year: CHF 0.2 million).

In the year under review, the fair value of this property was evaluated and changes recognized in the income statement. For 

the valuation, the discounted cash flow method was used. Cyclical investments have been taken into consideration in deter-

mining the cash flow. A discount rate of 5.2% was applied.

6.9 Financial assets

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Investments held-to-maturity     15‘000 15‘000

Total current financial assets    15‘000 15‘000

6.8 Investment properties

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Balance at 1 January     29‘796 0

Transfer from tangible assets     0 29‘796

Capitalized expenditures     127 0

Revaluations     731 0

Balance at 31 December     30‘654 29‘796

Fire insurance values     54‘867 54‘867

Financial assets include deposits in CHF with a duration of less than 6 months.
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CHF 1‘000    Note 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Reconciliation of the balance sheet line item 

Present value of defined benefit obligation    173‘071 175‘287

Fair value of plan assets     191‘395 177‘544

Deficit/(-Surplus)     -18‘324 -2‘257

Unrecognized actuarial gains/(-losses)    9‘713 -2‘974

Unrecognized assets     7‘715 4‘364

Total liability/(-asset) - net    -896 -867

Pension expense recognized in the income statement 

Current service cost     6‘978 6‘307

Contributions made by employees    -3‘785 -3‘529

Interest cost on defined benefit obligation    5‘204 4‘840

Expected return on plan assets    -7‘992 -7‘493

Change in unrecognized assets    3‘351 4‘364

Changes in the scope of consolidation    0 -960

Pension expense recognized in the statement of income  5.3 3’756 3‘529

The actual return on plan assets in the year under review was CHF 13.7 million (prior year: CHF 24.6 million).

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Change in present value of defined benefit obligation    

Balance at 1 January     175‘287 165‘807

Current service cost     6‘978 6‘307

Interest cost on defined benefit obligation    5‘204 4‘840

Actuarial loss/(-gain)     -6‘952 20‘897

Benefits paid     -7‘446 -8‘927

Changes in the scope of consolidation    0 -13‘637

Balance at 31 December     173‘071 175‘287

Change in fair value of plan assets     

Balance at 1 January     177‘543 166‘711

Expected return on plan asset    7‘992 7‘493

Actuarial loss/(-gain)     5‘736 18‘846

Contributions made by employees    3‘785 3‘529

Contributions made by employer    3‘785 3‘529

Benefits paid     -7‘446 -8‘927

Changes in the scope of consolidation    0 -13‘637

Balance at 31 December     191‘395 177‘544

The Mikron Group expects to credit employer contributions of CHF 3.8 million to the pension fund for fiscal year 2007.

6.10 Employee benefits Employees in Switzerland are insured through the Mikron pension fund, which is a founda-

tion under Swiss law and independent of the Mikron Group. With a few exceptions, all employees in Switzerland are 

obliged to join the pension fund. The contributions are based on the annual salary and are accumulated in individual retire-

ment accounts. Upon retirement (at age 65 for men and age 64 for women), a lump-sum benefit may be drawn. Gener-

ally, however, a pension is paid out, on the basis of a specified conversion factor. The employee benefit plans thus qualify 

as defined benefit plans in accordance with IAS 19. At the balance sheet date actuarial valuations were established by inde-

pendent experts. Currently no defined benefit plans exist at foreign subsidiaries.
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Assumptions for actuarial calculations    31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Discount rate     3.00% 3.00%

Expected return on plan assets    4.50% 4.50%

Future increase in salaries and wages    2.00% 2.00%

Future increase in pensions     1.00% 1.00%

The expected return on investments was defined taking into account the categories of plan assets. For this purpose, a valu-

ation prepared for the Mikron pension fund by an independent actuary in 2004 was referred to. On that basis, the market 

return for fixed-interest investments upon maturity was used. When determining the returns on equity instruments and real 

estate, the long-term market expectations were taken into consideration.

On the recommendation of the actuary, the assumption regarding mortality is based on the “BVG 2005“ tables, which repre-

sent the most comprehensive analysis of the probability of death and disability in Switzerland.

5-Year summary

CHF 1‘000   31.12.2006 31.12.2005 31.12.2004 31.12.2003 31.12.2002

Present value of defined benefit obligation   173‘071 175‘287 165‘807 161‘091 161‘004

Fair value of plan assets   191‘395 177‘544 166‘712 162‘180 162‘065

Deficit/(-Surplus)   -18‘324 -2‘257 -905 -1‘089 -1‘061

Experience adjustments on plan assets   5‘736 18‘846 0 0 0

Experience adjustments on defined benefit obligation   -7‘132 3‘265 0 0 0

6.11 Deferred taxes

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

The deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to the following balance sheet items:

Current assets     2‘250 -1‘285

Tangible assets and investment properties    5‘349 6‘078

Financial assets and intangible assets    405 19

Current liabilities     66 1‘881

Long-term liabilities     -298 -717

Loss carry forwards     -8‘368 -7‘435

Total deferred tax liabilities - net    -596 -1‘459

thereof recognized in the balance sheet as deferred tax liabilities   7‘772 5‘976

thereof recognized in the balance sheet as deferred tax assets   -8‘368 -7‘435

Substantial categories of plan assets    31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Bonds Switzerland     20.8% 18.1%

Foreign Bonds     10.6% 11.7%

Shares Switzerland     15.6% 17.1%

Foreign Shares     15.7% 15.2%

Real estate Switzerland     19.6% 20.3%

Others     17.7% 17.6%

The fair value of plan assets includes 3’802 shares of Mikron Holding AG with a market value of CHF 0.05 million (prior year: 

CHF 0.06 million).
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CHF 1‘000    Note 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Statement of changes in deferred tax liabilities     

Balance at 1 January     5‘976 10‘236

Set-up and reversal of temporary differences    1‘587 -589

Adjustments directly through the equity    204 -84

Changes in the scope of consolidation    0 -3‘589

Translation adjustments     5 2

Balance at 31 December     7‘772 5‘976

thereof related to the revaluation of property    3‘218 3‘190

Statement of changes in deferred tax assets     

Balance at 1 January     7‘435 4‘528

Utilization and expiration of deferred tax assets   5.7 -440 -1‘418

Capitalization of deferred tax assets   5.7 1‘373 4‘970

Other changes     -23 -631

Translation adjustments     23 -14

Balance at 31 December     8‘368 7‘435

Not capitalized tax loss carry forwards     

Expiry      

- in the following year     0 0

- in 2 to 3 years     149‘439 2‘347

- in 4 to 5 years     13‘046 168‘287

- in 6 to 7 years     17‘003 3‘277

- in 8 to 10 years     0 35‘104

- No expiry date     42‘239 65‘839

Total not capitalized tax loss carry forwards    221‘727 274‘854

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 

which the tax losses may be utilized. 

The tax loss carry forwards for which no deferred tax asset is recognized amount to CHF 221.7 million (prior year: CHF 274.9 

million). The respective potential tax saving, calculated using the current tax rate of the Group, amounts to CHF 44.3 million 

(prior year: CHF 54.4 million) taking into account also the reduced rate for holding companies in Switzerland.

No deferred tax items are recognized in respect of temporary differences on investments in subsidiaries, since the Group 

is able to control the reversal of such temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future.

6.12 Financial liabilities

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Short-term financial liabilities

Bank overdrafts     421 0

Finance lease liabilities     1‘085 2‘127

Derivative financial instruments    386 208

Total short-term financial liabilities    1‘892 2‘335

Long-term financial liabilities

Finance lease liabilities     1‘885 4‘291

Total long-term financial liabilities    1‘885 4‘291
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6.13 Provisions
   Onerous Employee Restruc-
CHF 1‘000  Warranties contracts benefits  turing Others Total

Short-term provisions  2‘821 1‘595 0 0 2‘636 7‘052

Long-term provisions  740 3‘881 39 0 0 4‘660

Provisions at 31.12.2005  3‘561 5‘476 39 0 2‘636 11‘712

Changes       

Changes in the scope of consolidation  0 0 0 0 0 0

Additions  296 297 0 0 554 1‘147

Utilization  -540 -1‘841 0 0 -1‘187 -3‘568

Reversal  -711 0 -38 0 -600 -1‘349

Translation adjustments  -19 -338 -1 0 0 -358

Provisions at 31.12.2006  2‘587 3‘594 0 0 1‘403 7‘584

Short-term provisions  2‘176 1‘337 0 0 1‘335 4‘848

Long-term provisions  411 2‘257 0 0 68 2‘736

Provisions at 31.12.2006  2‘587 3‘594 0 0 1‘403 7‘584

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Currency split of financial liabilities

CHF     2‘229 3‘408

EUR     1‘548 3‘218

Total financial liabilities     3’777 6‘626

Maturity structure of financial liabilities

Expiry

- not later than 1 year     1‘892 2‘335

- later than 1 year but not later than 3 years    1‘079 2‘166

- later than 3 years but not later than 5 years    806 2‘125

Total financial liabilities     3’777 6‘626

Distribution of maturities of the finance lease liabilities

Lease liabilities payable

- not later than 1 year     1‘199 2‘374

- later than 1 year but not later than 3 years    1‘113 2‘273

- later than 3 years but not later than 5 years    873 2‘228

Future interest charges on finance lease liabilities    -215 -457

Finance interest lease liabilities - net of future interest charges   2‘970 6‘418

Short-term finance lease liabilities     1’085 2‘127

Long-term finance lease liabilities     1’885 4‘291

In September 2006, the existing credit agreement was renegotiated and concluded for a period of 24 months. The agree-

ment grants the Mikron Group to draw on its credit line for bank guarantees and on fixed advances at customary market 

conditions. The contractual covenants have been met since the commencement of the agreement.

In the year under review, the weighted average interest rate of short-term financial liabilities was 5.4% (prior year: 5.7%) and 

for long-term financial liabilities 5.9% (prior year: 5.2%). Finance lease liabilities are mainly related to machines purchased for 

use in production.
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6.14 Other current liabilities and accrued expenses

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Accrued expenses     18‘169 18‘631

Other current liabilities     2‘647 3‘142

Total other current liabilities and accrued expenses   20’816 21‘773

The other current liabilities and accrued expenses mainly consist of accruals in relation to employees‘ annual leave entitle-

ments, overtime and bonus totaling CHF 10.3 million, outstanding trade payables as well as the remaining costs of orders 

already billed, but for which final acceptance is still pending.

6.15 Shareholders‘ equity

6.15.1 Share capital The share capital as of December 31, 2006 amounts to CHF 1.7 million (prior year: CHF 1.7 million) and 

consists of 16‘712’744 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.10 per share.

     Number of
CHF 1‘000     registered shares Value

Balance at 31.12.2005     16‘565‘044 1‘656

Capital increase (option exercises)    147‘700 15

Balance at 31.12.2006     16‘712‘744 1‘671

In the year under review, the remaining options on 147‘700 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.10 each, granted to 

creditors on June 19, 2003 as part of the refinancing, were exercised.

The company thus reports two remaining categories of conditional capital with an overall nominal value of CHF 62‘079. For 

the purposes of exercising options and conversion rights granted to their holders in connection with the company‘s bonds 

or similar debentures and/or by exercising option rights allotted to the shareholders and/or the company‘s Board of Directors 

and management, 620‘799 registered shares, each with a par value of CHF 0.10, may be created. The number of registered 

shares securing management option rights is limited to a maximum of 550‘000 registered shares. As at the cut-off date, the 

company had not issued any options or entered into any commitments that would result in these registered shares being 

issued.

Warranty provisions are related to sales of products and services and are based on experience. In addition, expected warranty 

claims, including those in connection with the sale of the Components segment and of the Axxicon Mould Technology activi-

ties, have been recognized. Cash outflows are expected as benefits related to the warranties given are claimed. 

The liabilities of the Group for onerous contracts are based primarily on expected losses on long term lease agreements. The 

provision for long term lease agreements covers lease obligations for two buildings over a period of three to five years and 

will decrease as the respective lease payments are made. These liabilities have been discounted to December 31, 2006 based 

on a discount rate customarily in place. 

Other provisions mainly cover the risks from indemnifications related to the sale of companies in previous years and pending 

legal cases.
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6.15.3 Reserves

                                                Other Reserves      

    Capital Retained Translation Revaluation
CHF 1‘000    reserves earnings  adjustment reserves

Balance at 31.12.2004    108‘670 92‘228 -10‘316 17‘231

Net Earnings 2005     -24‘558  

Exchange differences on intra-Group loans with equity character     1‘603 

Exchange differences on liquidated companies      9‘834 

Change in revaluation, net of deferred taxes     5‘498  -5‘498

Transfer of depreciation on revalued tangible assets     110  -110

Translation adjustments      -1‘472 

Balance at 31.12.2005    108‘670 73‘278 -351 11‘623

Net Earnings 2006     3‘983  

Exchange differences on intra-Group loans with equity character     

Exchange differences on liquidated companies      119

Change in revaluation, net of deferred taxes     268  502

Transfer of depreciation on revalued tangible assets     94  -94

Translation adjustments      254 

Balance at 31.12.2006    108‘670 77’623 22 12‘031

The capital reserves result from capital increases in 2003, less directly attributable costs.

Foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the equity of consolidated companies that have a functional 

currency different from the presentation currency are recognized directly in Group equity. Exchange differences on long-term 

intra-Group loans with equity character are likewise taken directly to equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange 

differences are recognized in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale. Accumulated exchange differences 

related to the deconsolidated companies Seropa Technology and Seropa France, existing at June 30, 2006, have been 

reversed (see note 7.1).

Property is measured at fair value. The difference between the cost and the fair value of properties, except for investment 

properties, is recognized in the revaluation reserve in equity, net of deferred taxes.

A group of investors holds 70.3% (prior year: 70.9%) of the voting rights of Mikron Holding AG. No other single share-

holder otherwise holds 5% or more voting rights. The group of investors, comprising Ammann Group Holding AG, Corporate 

Investment Management Affentranger Holding AG, Personalfürsorgestiftung Rieter AG, Tegula AG and Mr Rudolf Maag, are 

bound together until 2008 by a shareholder pooling agreement with a fixed term of five years. 

6.15.2 Treasury shares On December 31, 2006, 25 registered treasury shares were held by Mikron Holding AG, Biel 

(prior year: 2’199).

6.16 Changes in net working capital

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Movement in accounts receivable    1‘079 5‘452

Movement in inventories     1‘871 -11‘097

Movement in net assets from customer projects, other receivables and prepaid expenses   -19‘680 10‘366

Movement in accounts payable    2‘092 -5‘519

Movement in net liabilities from customer projects, other current liabilities and accrued expenses  -9‘487 -1‘386

Total changes in net working capital    -24’125 -2‘184
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7.1 Discontinued operations Seropa Technology was deconsolidated as at June 30, 2006 since Mikron has relinquished 

control of this company due to the insolvency proceedings that are now in progress. Seropa France, the sole shareholder in 

Seropa Technology, was likewise removed from the scope of consolidation as of the same date. 

In December 2005, the components segment was sold to a group of Swiss investors. Furthermore, several Finance companies 

were liquidated or merged with other subsidiaries during 2005.

Total results and cash flows of the discontinued operations are as follows:

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Net sales     6‘148 125‘009

Operating Expenses     -6‘741 -122‘232

Impairments     -339 -3‘219

Loss on sale     -839 -25‘443

Exchange differences reversed from equity     -119 -9‘834

Financial result - net     -104 -2‘308

Net earnings before taxes    -1’994 -38‘027

Income Taxes     -6 307

Net earnings from discontinued operations    -2’000 -37‘720

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Cash flow from operating activities    -1‘587 6‘184

Cash flow from investing activities    -39 -4‘506

Cash flow from financing activities    33 -3‘471

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    -27 371

Closing Balance cash and cash equivalents within assets held for sale   0 -544

Net cash flow from discontinued operations    -1’620 -1‘966

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Current assets     0 7‘537

Non-current assets     0 59

Total assets held for sale     0 7‘596

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Current liabilities     0 5‘105

Long-term liabilities     0 1‘522

Total liabilities held for sale    0 6‘627

The major classes of assets and liabilities held for sale, measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to 

sell, are as follows:

7. Other Notes
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                                                                                                         Replacement value                       Contract                                                 Contract equivalent by due date
CHF 1‘000 positive negative equivalent 0-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years over 5 years

Unsettled derivative 

financial instruments 2005      

Forward exchange contracts 0 208 16‘910 11‘927 4‘983 0 0

Options 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Foreign exchange 0 208 16‘910 11‘927 4‘983 0 0

Total derivative instruments 0 208 16‘910 11‘927 4‘983 0 0

Unsettled derivative 

financial instruments 2006       

Forward exchange contracts 0 386 20‘417 14‘137 6‘280 0 0

Options 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Foreign exchange 0 386 20‘417 14‘137 6‘280 0 0

Total derivative instruments 0 386 20‘417 14‘137 6‘280 0 0

The solely currencies are CHF, USD and EUR.

The replacement values are disclosed as short-term financial liabilities (note 6.12).

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Cash and cash equivalents     -3 -3‘161

Receivables and prepaid expenses    -4‘885 -26‘158

Inventories     -2‘511 -14‘801

Tangible assets     -1‘492 -38‘345

Intangible assets and financial assets    -809 0

Financial liabilities     -1‘245 -975

Accounts payable     -2‘459 -12‘727

Other current liabilities     -3‘729 -10‘895

Long-term liabilities     -1‘428 -3‘801

Net assets     -839 -54‘067

less cash and cash equivalents    3 3‘161

Net assets without cash and cash equivalents    -836 -50‘906

Sales price - net     0 28‘624

less loss on sale     839 25‘443

Net assets     839 54‘067

less cash and cash equivalents    -3 -3‘161

Net disposals without cash and cash equivalents    836 50‘906

7.2 Financial instruments 

7.2.1 Derivative financial instruments To secure foreign currency positions and future transactions in foreign curren-

cies, the Group uses financial instruments (forward exchange contracts, options and swaps). Mikron does not apply hedge 

accounting. As at the balance sheet date, the Group held the following financial instruments:

The impact of the disposals described above on the balance sheet and cash flows can be summarized as follows:
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7.2.2 Fair values The carrying amount of the following financial assets and liabilities is equivalent to their fair value: cash 

and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, current and non-current financial assets, accounts payable and financial liabilities. 

The carrying amount of current and non-current financial assets is marked-to-market.

7.5.1 Group companies All Group companies (see table of investments) are fully consolidated. At the balance sheet date, 

the Group did not have any investments in associates or joint ventures.

7.5 Related party transactions
                     Key members of
                        Management                         Other
CHF 1‘000    2006 2005 2006 2005

Net sales    0 0 0 489

Material cost and subcontractors    0 0 -18 -47

Personnel expenses    -2‘443 -2‘678 -3‘756 -3‘529

Other operating expenses - net    -422 -400 1‘727 1‘366

Financial result - net    0 0 0 1‘668

Accounts receivable    0 0 94 0

Other current liabilities and accrued expenses    0 0 281 296

7.5.2 Compensation for key members of management

CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Short-term employee benefits and fees    -2‘540 -2‘789

Contribution to pension fund    -257 -289

Compensation in shares and options    -68 0

These remunerations were paid to the members of the Board of Directors and Group Management.  

7.3 Assets pledged as security for liabilities

CHF 1‘000    Note 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Property pledged as security for liabilities    0 54‘847

Collateral securities - nominal    0 66‘000

Loans and mortgages utilized    0 0

Other assets pledged as security for liabilities   6.6 4‘311 8‘909

Finance leases (machinery, equipment) utilized   6.12 2‘970 6‘418

Credit facilities and loans utilized    0 0

7.4 Lease commitments not recognized

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Not recognized lease commitments, payable 

- not later than 1 year     4‘065 4‘576

-  later than 1 year but not later than 3 years    6‘311 7‘214

- later than 3 years but not later than 5 years    2‘681 3‘080

- later than 5 years     754 1‘129

The future minimum lease payments are mainly related to non-cancellable operating leases for office and production facilities 

and office equipments. The leases have varying terms and renewal rights.
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7.5.3 Other related parties The personnel expenses reported include employer contributions to the Mikron pension fund 

and the “Kaderstiftung der Mikron Gruppe“ for all plan participants. The financial income resulted from loans granted to 

companies of the components segment until they were disposed of in December 2005. In addition, the other operating 

expenses are reported net of income from information technology services provided to these companies. All other transac-

tions relate to companies outside the Mikron Group, where members of the Board of Directors exercise significant influence.

The activities of the Mikron Group now focus on the Production Equipment segment, which creates customer-specific solu-

tions for machining and assembly systems.

Group Management services and central functions are reported under the Corporate heading, to the extent that they are not 

recharged to the Production Equipment segment. These intercompany transactions are performed at arm’s length. Further-

more, the property held as a financial investment and the rental income therefrom are reported under Corporate.

8. Information by Business and Geographical Segment

8.1 Information by Business Segment

                   Production Equipment              Corporate / Eliminations                     Total Group

CHF 1‘000  2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Net sales - third party  244‘660 218‘392 0 0 244‘660 218‘392

Net sales - group  0 0 0 0 0 0

Total net sales  244’660 218‘392 0 0 244’660 218‘392

Depreciation  -8‘686 -8‘668 -216 -1‘225 -8‘901 -9‘893

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)  10’363 11‘610 -1’391 -3‘999 8’972 7‘611

7.6 Share-based payments A share purchase plan has been established for a select number of Mikron Group employees, 

entitling them to subscribe Mikron shares at preferential conditions. Any shares which legally pass to the buyer may not be 

sold during a lock-up period of three years. On July 1, 2006, 19 members of management were granted 17‘150 shares at 

a price of CHF 9.90 per share. The purchase price is based on the average market price of the shares granted during the 

subscription period of CHF 15.23 less a discount of 35%. The difference between the market quotation and the reduced 

purchase price was recognized as personnel expense at the date of allocation. The shares for this programme were taken 

from treasury shares. 

The members of the Board of Directors of Mikron Holding AG receive part of their compensation in shares. Any shares legally 

transferred may not be sold during a four-year period. As at July 1, 2006 a total of 4‘000 Mikron shares were allocated to the 

members of the Board of Directors. The fair value of the shares granted was recognized as personnel expense at the date of 

allocation. The shares were taken from treasury shares.
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Continued operations                                                                 Production Equipment              Corporate / Eliminations                     Total Group

CHF 1‘000  2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Assets excluding cash and cash equivalents   212‘358 218‘414 34‘422 8‘266 246‘780 226‘680

Cash and cash equivalents       29‘559 56‘383

Assets held for sale      0 7‘596

Total assets      276’339 290‘659

Liabilities excluding financial liabilities  65‘578 73‘435 6‘967 9‘130 72‘545 82‘565

Financial liabilities      3‘777 6‘626

Liabilities held for sale      0 6‘627

Total liabilities      76’322 95‘818

Investments in tangible assets   5‘605 11‘030 152 701 5‘757 11‘731

Divestments of tangible assets   -3‘652 -3‘149 -15 -77 -3‘667 -3‘226

Investments by discontinued operations      35 314

Divestments by discontinued operations      0 0

Total investments in tangible assets - net      2’125 8‘819

Investments in intangible assets   5‘175 4‘094 0 0 5‘175 4‘094

Investments by discontinued operations      2 9

Total investments in intangible assets - net      5’177 4‘103

Discontinued operations Detailed information regarding discontinued operations are disclosed in note 7.1.

8.2 Information by Geographical Segment

                                       Net sales
CHF 1‘000   2006 2005

Switzerland   11‘933 10‘479

Europe   172‘230 165‘980

North America   40‘607 21‘962

Asia/Pacific, India   15‘455 12‘405

Others   4‘435 7‘566

Total net sales   244‘660 218‘392

                                               Total assets                      Investments                                Divestments                           Investments - net

CHF 1‘000 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Switzerland 240‘257 250‘279 7‘553 10‘660 -60 -84 7‘493 10‘576

Europe 25‘260 24‘027 2‘203 4‘940  -3‘607 -3‘142 -1‘404 1‘798

North America 10‘175 7‘990 1‘176 225 0 0 1‘176 225

Asia/Pacific, India 647 767 0 0 0 0 0 0

Others 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Assets held 

for sale  0 7‘596 37 323 0 0 37 323

Total 276’339 290‘659 10‘969 16‘148 -3‘667 -3‘226 7‘302 12‘922
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9. Net Earnings per Share

9.1 Weighted average number of shares

Number     2006 2005

Issued shares at 1 January     16‘565‘044 16‘565‘044

Capital increase     0 0

Exercise of convertible bond rights and options    147‘700 0

Issued shares at 31 December    16‘712‘744 16‘565‘044

thereof treasury shares     -25 -2‘199

Adjusted for weighted average    -43‘340 -1‘320

Weighted average number of shares - basic    16’669’379 16‘561‘525

Effect of dilution     30‘976 147‘700

Weighted average number of shares - diluted    16‘700‘355 16‘709‘225

9.2 Computation of net earnings per share

CHF 1‘000, except for per share information    2006 2005

Net earnings for the year continued operations    5‘983 13‘162

Weighted average number of shares - basic    16‘669‘379 16‘561‘525

Net earnings per share continued operations - basic   0.36 0.79

Weighted average number of shares - diluted    16‘700‘355 16‘709‘225

Net earnings per share continued operations - diluted   0.36 0.79

Net earnings for the year discontinued operations    -2‘000 -37‘720

Weighted average number of shares - basic    16‘669‘379 16‘561‘525

Net earnings per share discontinued operations - basic   -0.12 -2.28

Weighted average number of shares - diluted    16‘700‘355 16‘709‘225

Net earnings per share discontinued operations - diluted   n.a. n.a.

Number of Employees   31.12.2006 31.12.2005 

Switzerland   837 837

Europe   77 71

North America   80 71

Asia/Pacific, India   4 4

Others   0 0

Total   998 983
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Report of the Group Auditors

Report of the group auditors

to the general meeting of

Mikron Holding AG

Biel

As auditors of the group, we have audited the consolidated financial statements (balance sheet, income statement, state-

ment of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and notes, pages 40 to 70 and page 82) of Mikron Holding AG for the 

year ended December 31, 2006.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors. Our responsibility is to express an 

opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements 

concerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards and with the International Standards on Auditing, 

which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated finan-

cial statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant esti-

mates made and the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of opera-

tions and the cash flows in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Hanspeter Gerber                                                     Oliver Kuntze

Auditor in charge

Bern, February 23, 2007

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG
Bahnhofplatz 10
Postfach
3001 Bern
Switzerland
Phone +41 58 792 75 00
Fax +41 58 792 75 10
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5-Year Financial Summary

CHF million, except productivity and number of employees 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Key performance data

Order intake 228.7  214.9  339.8  414.0  442.6 

Net sales 244.7  218.4  332.0  433.2  414.7 

Stock of orders 72.7  96.7  115.7  123.6  144.9 

Operating output 247.8  230.6  332.9  443.9  421.3 

Productivity (added value/personnel expenses) 1.41  1.47  1.44  1.57  1.47

Research and development 14.3  14.7  8.3  8.8  10.7

Number of employees (end of year) 998  983  1698  3159  3042

Investments - net 7.3  12.6  -44.3  17.9  -7.5

Divestments/(Acquisitions) of subsidiaries 0.0  25.5  57.1  0.6  0.0 

Earnings

Earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation (EBITDA), as % of net sales 17.9 7.3% 17.5 8.0% 5.8 1.8% 11.7 2.7% -6.3 -1.5%

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), as % of net sales 9.0 3.7% 7.6 3.5% -12.3 -3.7% -117.6 -27.1% -109.0 -26.3%

Net earnings for the year, as % of net sales 4.0 1.6% -24.6 -11.2% 0.5 0.2% 93.7 21.6% -141.8 -34.2%

Cash flow

Cash flow from operating activities (incl. movement in net working 

capital), as % of net sales -15.3 -6.3% 12.4 5.7% -7.8 2.4% 25.1 5.8% 14.9 3.6%

Free cash flow -24.3  13.9  36.4  7.2  22.4 

Balance sheet

Balance sheet total 276.3  290.7  340.3  435.5  536.2

Current assets 158.5  165.5  182.4  227.5  210.2

Non-current asset 117.9  117.6  157.9  208.1  326.0

Current liabilities 63.9  74.3  108.0  136.2  483.0

Long-term liabilities 12.4  14.9  23.0  90.3  45.4

Shareholders‘ equity, as % of total assets 200.0 72.4% 194.8 67.0% 209.3 61.5% 209.0 48.0% 7.7 1.4%

5-Year Financial Summary
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Information on Share Capital

   2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Number of shares1)

(par value CHF 0.10)

Registered shares   16‘712‘744 16‘565‘044 16‘565‘044 16‘120‘975 1‘285‘704

Total   16’712’744 16‘565‘044 16‘565‘044 16‘120‘975 1‘285‘704

Shares entitled to dividends

Registered shares   16‘712‘744 16‘565‘044 16‘565‘044 16‘120‘975 1‘285‘704

Total   16’712’744 16‘565‘044 16‘565‘044 16‘120‘975 1‘285‘704

Shares granted subject to a condition for1), 2)

(par value CHF 0.10)

Management options   0 0 0 0 24‘660

Options of the bank syndicate   0 147‘700 147‘700 591‘769 0

Total   0 147‘700 147‘700 591‘769 24‘660

Key figures per share in CHF3)

Net earnings for the year   0.24 -1.49 0.03 10.96 -110.26

Cashflow from operating activities   -0.92 0.75 -0.25 2.94 11.62

Shareholders‘ equity   11.97 11.76 12.97 24.44 6.02

Dividends   0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Market price high-low (business year)

Registered shares   16.5-12.35 19.95-13.9 19.5-11.6 21.7-4.33 159-6

1) The par value per share was reduced to CHF 0.10 through a capital reduction in June 2003 (Par value prior to reduction: CHF 50).
2) Stated as far as commitments have been entered that would result in these registered shares being created.
3) Based on the average number of outstanding shares without diluting effects.

Trading volume (daily average) In the fiscal year 2006 the average daily trade volume was 9’132 shares (prior year: 14‘027 

shares).

Opting out/up The company did not choose to make use of these options.

Information on Share Capital
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CHF 1‘000     2006 2005

Revenue

Revenue from investments     8‘000 0 

Financial income     3‘844 13‘523

Services and other income     8‘068 7‘340

Total revenue     19’912 20‘863

Expenses

Personnel expenses     1‘932 1‘859

Depreciation     51 46

Financial expenses     464 2‘582

Loss on sale of investments     0 26‘203

Expenses from revaluation of investments and loans    9‘398 3‘322

Other expenses     3‘170 3‘138

Taxes     31 34

Total expenses     15’046 37‘184

Net earnings     4’866 -16‘321

Income Statement
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CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents     27‘251 48‘434

Marketable securities     0 35

Accounts receivable     1 0

Intercompany receivables     310 267

Other receivables     200 875

Short-term financial assets     15‘000 15‘000

Short-term financial assets to group companies    15‘859 7‘765

Prepaid expenses     150 31

Total current assets     58’771 72‘407

Non-current assets

Tangible assets     138 163

Financial assets

- Investments     87‘890 88‘652

- Loans to group companies     67‘314 70‘780

     155‘204 159‘432

Total non-current assets     155’342 159‘595

Total assets     214’113 232‘002

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable     184 236

Intercompany payables     109 635

Other liabilities     106 717

Short-term financial liabilities from group companies    6‘388 16‘815

Accrued expenses     1‘695 2‘348

Total current liabilities     8’482 20‘751

Long-term liabilities

Long-term financial liabilities from group companies    8‘000 15‘000

Provisions     1‘500 5‘000

Total long-term liabilities    9’500 20‘000

Total liabilities     17’982 40‘751

Shareholders‘ equity

Share capital     1‘671 1‘657

Legal reserve     108‘670 108‘670

Reserve for treasury shares     0 35

Retained earnings     85‘790 80‘889

Total shareholders‘ equity    196’131 191‘251

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity    214’113 232‘002

Balance Sheet
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1. Guarantees and assets pledged in favour of third parties

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Guarantees for group companies    13‘895 25‘131

2. Lease commitments not recognized

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Not recognized lease commitments (Operating leases)    49 72

3. Share capital 

CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Capital I subject to a condition    12 12

Capital II subject to a condition    50 50

Capital III subject to a condition    0 15

Capital I subject to a condition Capital increase subject to a condition of initial nominal value of CHF 12‘079.90 as per 

approval of the Annual General Meeting of June 18, 2003 by the issue of 120‘799 registered shares at a par value of 

CHF 0.10.

Capital II subject to a condition Capital increase subject to a condition of initial nominal value of CHF 50‘000 as per 

approval of the Annual General Meeting of June 18, 2003 by the issue of 500‘000 registered shares at a par value of 

CHF 0.10.

Capital III subject to a condition Capital increase subject to a condition of initial nominal value of CHF 257‘000 as per 

approval of the Annual General Meeting of June 18, 2003 by the issue of 2‘570‘000 registered shares at a par value of 

CHF 0.10, without subscription rights for present shareholders. In the year under review the last options were exercised and 

therefore no capital subject to a condition remains (previous year: 147‘700 shares with CHF 14‘770 value).

4. Major investments see page 82.

5. Information on treasury shares During 2006 the Company acquired a total of 45‘053 treasury shares at an average 

price of CHF 14.39 per share and sold 26‘077 shares at an average price of CHF 13.46. Under the Employee Share Purchase 

Plan, 17‘150 shares have been sold at CHF 9.90 to employees and under the Bonus Share Plan of the Board of Directors 

4‘000 shares have been issued at no consideration. At December 31, 2006 Mikron Holding AG, Biel owned 25 shares (prior 

year 2‘199).

Notes to the Financial Statements 2006
of Mikron Holding AG

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements 2006
of Mikron Holding AG

8. Statement of Shareholders’equity

   Share Legal Treasury Retained Shareholders’
CHF 1‘000   capital reserve shares earnings equity

Balance at 31.12.2004   1‘657 108‘670 201 97‘044 207‘572

Net earnings 2005      -16‘321 -16‘321

Reversal of reserve for treasury shares     -166 166 0

Balance at 31.12.2005   1‘657 108‘670 35 80‘889 191‘251

Net earnings 2006      4‘866 4‘866

Reversal of reserve for treasury shares     -35 35 0

Capital increase - Exercised options   14    14

Stand 31.12.2006   1‘671 108‘670 0 85‘790 196‘131

9. Shareholder structure at December 31, 2006 From a total of 5‘665 shareholders, 5‘621 shareholders with 14‘676‘816 

shares are entitled to vote. 44 shareholders with 310‘821 shares as well as 1‘725‘107 shares of the trading stock are not enti-

tled to vote.

     Number of  Number of  
     shareholders shares %

Shareholders   > 835‘637 (5%)  1 11‘742‘941 70.3%

Shareholders   > 100‘000 <  835‘637 (5%) 0 0 0.0%

Shareholders   > 10’000 < 100‘000 32 762‘635 4.6%

Shareholders   > 5’000 < 10’000 39 292‘892 1.8%

Shareholders   > 1’000 < 5’000 499 1‘054‘176 6.3%

Shareholders   > 100 < 1’000 2‘286 1‘031‘829 6.2%

Shareholders   > 10 < 100 2‘067 97‘802 0.6%

Shareholders   < 10  741 5‘362 0.0%

Trading stock      1‘725‘107 10.3%

Total     5‘665 16‘712‘744 100.0%

6. Accounting principles The financial statements of Mikron Holding AG have been prepared in accordance with 

accounting principles stipulated by Swiss law. Balance sheet items are reported taking the imparity principle and the lower of 

cost or market principle into consideration. Foreign currency transactions are translated using the exchange rate prevailing at 

the date of transaction. Assets and liabilities are translated into Swiss francs at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance 

sheet date.

7. Investments Investments are held as cost less any required allowance.

A group of investors holds 70.3% (prior year: 70.9%) of the voting rights of Mikron Holding AG. No other single share-

holder otherwise holds 5% or more voting rights. The group of investors, comprising Ammann Group Holding AG, Corporate 

Investment Management Affentranger Holding AG, Personalfürsorgestiftung Rieter AG, Tegula AG and Mr Rudolf Maag, are 

bound together until 2008 by a shareholder pooling agreement with a fixed term of five years. 
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CHF 1‘000     31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Retained earnings carried forward    80‘889 97‘044

Change of reserve for treasury shares    35 166

Net earnings     4‘866 -16‘321

Retained earnings     85’790 80‘889

Appropriation of retained earnings

Carry forward to new account    85‘790 80‘889

     85’790 80‘889

Appropriation of Retained Earnings

Appropriation of Retained Earnings at December 31, 2006 (Proposal of the Board of Directors)
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Report of the Statutory Auditors

Report of the statutory auditors

to the general meeting of

Mikron Holding AG

Biel

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and the financial statements (balance sheet, income statement 

and notes, pages 76 to 80 and page 82) of Mikron Holding AG for the year ended December 31, 2006.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualifica-

tion and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards, which require that an audit be planned and 

performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. We 

have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. We have also 

assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall financial statement presentation. We 

believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the proposed appropriation of available earnings comply 

with Swiss law and the company‘s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Hanspeter Gerber                                                    Oliver Kuntze

Auditor in charge

Bern, February 23, 2007

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG
Bahnhofplatz 10
Postfach
3001 Bern
Switzerland
Phone +41 58 792 75 00
Fax +41 58 792 75 10
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    Share  Shareholding  Shareholding
Local currency 1‘000  Activity Currency capital Net sales1) direct indirect

Switzerland

Mikron Holding AG, Biel  1 CHF 1‘671 0

Mikron Management AG, Biel  1 CHF 25‘000 0 100%

Mikron SA Agno, Agno  2,3 CHF 13‘500 76‘185 100%

Mikron SA Boudry, Boudry  2,3 CHF 2‘000 99‘253 100%

Mikron Tool SA Agno, Agno   2,3 CHF 300 14‘711 100%

Germany

Mikron GmbH Rottweil, Rottweil  2,3 EUR 383 15‘383 100%

Japan

Mikron Ltd. Tokyo, Yokohama City  3 JPY 15‘000 150‘609 100%

USA

Mikron Corp. Denver, Aurora  2,3 USD 10 15‘417  100%

Mikron Corp. Monroe, Monroe  3 USD 1 7‘413  100%

Mikron North America Corp., Monroe  1 USD 3‘500 0 100%

1) Net sales to third parties 2006

Activity

1 = Management/Service

2 = Production/Development

3 = Sales/Service

Group Companies/Investments
of Mikron Holding AG

Valid as at Dec. 31, 2006

Corporate Structure

Mikron Holding AG
Switzerland

Mikron Management AG
Switzerland

Mikron Group

Corporate Services

Machining Technology
division

Assembly Technology
division

Production Equipment

Mikron SA Agno
Switzerland

Mikron Tool SA Agno
Switzerland

Mikron GmbH Rottweil
Germany

Mikron Corp. Monroe
USA

Mikron Ltd. Tokyo
Japan

Mikron SA Boudry
Switzerland

Mikron Corp. Denver
USA

Seropa Technology and Seropa France are not listed because their liquidation is in process.

Group Companies/Investments Mikron Holding AG



Mikron worldwide

Valid as at Dec. 31, 2006www.mikron.com

Andorre

DETRO IT      DE      MA L A CCA

CA

Headquarters

Production, sales/Service

Sales/Service

Representative

17

26

25
18202122

23

24

19

16 132

6 5

1

10
9

4

8
7

15

11

3

14

83

Asia/Pacific,
India

North AmericaEurope

 Spain/Portugal
12 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Officina Ibérica
 ES-08172 Sant Cugat del
 Vallès (Barcelona)

 Switzerland
13 Mikron Holding AG
 Mikron Management AG
 CH-2502 Biel

 Switzerland
14 Mikron SA  Agno
 CH-6903 Lugano 

 Switzerland
15 Mikron Tool SA  Agno
 CH-6982 Agno

 Switzerland
16 Mikron SA Boudry
 CH-2017 Boudry

 Switzerland
17 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Büro Schweiz
 CH-4147 Aesch

 USA
18 Mikron Corp. Monroe
 USA-Monroe, CT 06468

 USA/Canada/Mexico
19 Mikron Corp. Denver
 USA-Aurora, CO 80011

 USA-East
20 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Eastern Region
 USA-Detroit, Michigan

 USA-Midwest
21 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Midwest  Region
 USA-Milwaukee, Wisconsin

 USA-Southeast
22 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Southeast Region
 USA-Denver, Colorado

 USA-West
23 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Western Region
 USA-Denver, Colorado

 India
24 Mikron 
 Machining Technology
 India Office
 India-560 025 Bangalore

 Japan
25 Mikron Ltd. Tokyo
 Yokohama City 
 Japan-222-0033 

 Taiwan
26 Mikron 
 Machining Technology
 Taiwan Office
 Taipei, Taiwan R.O.C.

 Germany-Southern Part
6 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Regionalbüro 
 Süddeutschland
 DE-78052 VS Rietheim

 Great Britain/Ireland
7 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Regional Office UK & Ireland
 GB-Bolton BL1 7HP 

 Great Britain/Ireland
 8 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Regional Office UK & Ireland
 GB-Coventry CV7 9BA

 Italy
9 Mikron SAS Nerviano
 IT-20015 Parabiago (MI)

 Italy
10 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Ufficio regionale Italia
 IT-25020 Flero (Brescia)

 Nordic countries
11 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Regional Office Nordic
 DK-3600 Frederikssund

 Austria/Eastern Europe
1 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Regional Office Austria  
 & Eastern Europe
 AT-4810 Gmunden

 France
2 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Bureau France
 FR-39600 Arbois

 Germany
3 Mikron GmbH Rottweil
 DE-78628 Rottweil

 Germany/Benelux
4 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Büro Deutschland/Benelux
 CH-9326 Horn

 Germany-Northern Part
5 Mikron 
 Assembly Technology
 Regionalbüro 
 Norddeutschland
 DE-35510 Butzbach

12





Mikron Holding AG
Mühlebrücke 2
CH-2502 Biel
Tel. +41 32 321 72 00
Fax +41 32 321 72 01
mho@mikron.com
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